IMMUNOMETABOLIC SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PROFILING OF THE CECUM IN CHICKENS FOLLOWING CHALLENGE WITH FUNCTIONAL GUT HEALTH

MODIFIERS

A Dissertation

by

ANNAH LEE

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Morgan Farnell
Co-Chair of Committee,	Michael Kogut
Committee Members,	Yuhua Farnell
	Kenneth Genovese
Head of Department,	Audrey McElroy

December 2020

Major Subject: Poultry Science

Copyright 2020 Annah Lee

ABSTRACT

Although improved control measures have been implemented, Salmonella *enterica* Enteritidis (S. Enteritidis) continues to present an issue every year in US poultry industry. One of the main reasons for this may be the ability of *Salmonella* to survive the initial host immune response and persist. While it is common knowledge that birds infected with S. Enteritidis do not manifest any clinical disease symptoms, the mechanisms of persistence occurring in the host during infection have not been widely characterized. The host-pathogen interactions are incredibly complex which makes it difficult to elucidate immune responses and virulence mechanisms. Recent findings in our group have speculated a phenotypic alteration occurring in chicken ceca: early (4 to 48 h) and late (4 to 14 d) infections with S. Enteritidis with three distinct immunometabolic phases post-infection: disease resistance, disease tolerance, and homeostasis. This phenomenon may attribute to the disease resistance in the host. Without resolving chronic colonization by Salmonella, this results in contaminated poultry products to the public. Consequently, the objective was to elucidate the mechanisms of how S. Enteritidis affects immunometabolic tissue phenotype change in early broiler growth.

This objective was approached by testing two different gut physiological modulators in post-hatch broiler chicks: an antibiotic growth promoter (AGP) and a phytobiotic feed additive and their role in the affecting the host phenotype. Using this methodology, an immunometabolic cecal phenotype change was detected in *S*.

Enteritidis challenged birds fed with an AGP based on the shifting microbiota composition and pro-inflammatory response. Furthermore, the addition of a phytobiotic also demonstrated immunometabolic cecal alteration based on the phosphorylation data of the identified metabolic and immune pathways involved in host immunity. For the first time, it is shown that a phytobiotic product initially modulates metabolism while also potentially supporting growth and feed efficiency downstream.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this to my mother, who wanted to pursue her own doctoral degree in English Literature. She was promptly told "an educated woman would never find a suitable husband". Her encouragement over the years to pursue a career for myself has allowed me to go this far and beyond. Thank you for never pushing me to settle, mom!

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor Dr. Mike Kogut for taking a chance on me. I have learned much under his tutelage. I would also like to thank my co-advisor Dr. Morgan Farnell for guiding me throughout the course of my research.

I would also like to thank my colleagues Dr. Cristiano Bortoluzzi, Dr. Cinthia Eyng, and Gabriela Cardoso Dal Pont. Their endless support and help in the lab have been instrumental throughout my doctoral program, including their patience in teaching me basic Brazilian Portuguese.

I would also like to thank the dedicated animal care staff at the USDA – FFSRU. They have provided constant care for the chicks and provided unwavering help during necropsy and processing days.

Above all, my support group outside of Texas (Julie Kim, Nicole Breuner, Melissa Meierhofer, Christina Brock, Christine Vuong, and my FamiLee) has kept me sane throughout my doctoral program. Most of this would not have been possible without the enormous support given by my partner Ginsue Yang who uprooted his life in California to help me out in Texas. I would not have been able to survive this without his staunch support and infinite willingness to listen to my good and bad days. Finally, I would like to acknowledge my dear friend Csilla Bick who encouraged me out of my darkest career searching times and to go back to what I love doing: making a career out of curiosity.

v

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a dissertation committee consisting of Dr. Morgan Farnell (co-chair) of the Department of Poultry Science and Dr. Michael Kogut (cochair) of the USDA- FFSRU, Dr. Yuhua Farnell of the Department of Poultry Science and Dr. Kenneth Genovese of the USDA - FFSRU.

The microbiota statistical analysis for Chapter 3 was provided in part by Dr. Cristiano Bortoluzzi of the Department of Poultry Science at Texas A&M University. The microbiome sequencing was conducted by Dr. Kristina Feye of the USDA - FFSRU. The bioinformatics for this chapter was conducted in part by Dr. Rachel Pilla of the Department of Small Animal Clinical Sciences at Texas A&M University.

All other work conducted for the dissertation was completed by the student independently.

Funding Sources

Graduate studies were supported by an assistantship from Texas A&M University. Additional funding was made possible by a gift from Silvateam s.p.a.

This work was also made possible in part by the United States Department of Agriculture under Grant Number Research Service Project #3091-32000-034-00 and #58-3091-7-033. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the USDA.

NOMENCLATURE

AGP	Antibiotic growth promoters
AMPK	5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
ANOSIM	Analysis of similarities
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATA	Alternative to antibiotics
BMD	Bacitracin methylene disalicylate
BP	Biological process
ChT	Chestnut tannins
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FDR	False discovery rate
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GO	Gene Ontology
IFN	Interferon
IL-[#]	Interleukin-[number]
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NK	Natural killer

PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecule patterns
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
РТМ	Post-translational modification
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
SCFA	Short chain fatty acids
SPI	Salmonella pathogenicity island
STRING	Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TTSS	Type III secretion system

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCESvi
NOMENCLATURE
TABLE OF CONTENTSix
LIST OF FIGURESxii
LIST OF TABLES xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1. Poultry gut microbiota review
2.1.1. Poultry gut microbiota and its relation to host health
2.1.2. Gut microbiota and their effects on immunity and metabolism
2.1.3. Functional gut health modifiers
2.2. Salmonella enterica Enteritidis biology in the chicken
2.2.1. Salmonella and its influence on food production in the US
2.2.2. Salmonella pathogenesis in chickens
2.2.3. Salmonella persistence (disease resistance to disease tolerance)
2.2.4. Current Salmonella knowledge and its influence on poultry immunity16
2.2.5. Salmonella and its effects on the gut microbiota
2.3. Kinome and post-translational modification review
2.3.1. Importance of kinomics
2.3.2. Chicken-specific kinome arrays
2.4. Phytobiotics and immunity
2.4.1. Phytobiotics introduction
2.4.2. Tannins

CHAPTER : PHENOTYI	3: "A ROLE FOR THE MICROBIOTA IN THE IMMUNE PE ALTERATION ASSOCIATED WITH THE INDUCTION OF	
DISEASE T	OLERANCE AND PERSISTENT ASYMPTOMATIC INFECTIO	N OF
SALMONE	LLA IN THE CHICKEN."	27
3.1. In	troduction	27
3.2. M	aterials and Methods	29
3.2.1.	Experimental animals, housing, and treatments	29
3.2.2.	Bacteria preparation	30
3.2.3.	Bacterial enumeration and detection	30
3.2.4.	Sample collection and processing	31
3.2.5.	Microbiome sequencing	31
3.2.6.	Microbiome bioinformatic analysis	
3.2.7.	Real-time quantitative RT-PCR	
3.2.8.	Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR and microbiome analysis	
3.3. Re	esults	
3.3.1.	Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results	35
3.3.2.	Microbiome composition	
3.3.3.	Beta diversity index of cecal composition	
3.4. Di	scussion	
CHAPTER 4	4: "SUPPLEMENTING CHESTNUT TANNINS IN THE BROILE	R
DIEI MEDI	LATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"	52
DIET MEDI	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"	52
4.1. In	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction	52 52
4.1. In 4.2. Ma	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction atterials and Methods	52 52 55
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction tterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction aterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction tterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4.	ATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction tterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for gRT-PCR	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction terials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction tterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Ref	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction interials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3. 1	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction interials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction tterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array results Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction interials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array esults Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results scussion	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction interials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array esults Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results Kinome results	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction interials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array esults Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results Kinome results Statistical analysis: kinome array Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR results Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR results Statistin a analysis for qRT-PCR results	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER S	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction iterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array esults Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results statistical statistical analysis: kinome array bata analysis: kinome array statistical statistical analysis for qRT-PCR results Statistical analysis: kinome array Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR results Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR results Statistis Statistical analysis fo	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER S CHESTNUT	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction iterials and Methods Experimental animals, housing, and treatments Sample collection and processing Real-time quantitative RT-PCR Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array Data analysis: kinome array esults Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results Kinome results Statistical analysis: kinome array Statistical analysis: kinome array Statistical analysis: kinome array Statistical analysis: kinome array	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER CHESTNUT 5.1. In	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA" troduction	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER S CHESTNUT 5.1. In 5.2. M	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER S CHAPTER S CHESTNUT 5.1. In 5.2. M 5.2.1.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"	
4.1. In 4.2. Ma 4.2. Ma 4.2.1. 4.2.2. 4.2.3. 4.2.4. 4.2.5. 4.2.6. 4.3. Re 4.3.1. 4.3.2. 4.4. Di CHAPTER S CHAPTER S CHESTNUT 5.1. In 5.2. M 5.2.1. 5.2.2.	IATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"	

5.2	2.3. Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) a	nray
5.2	2.4. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR assa	ıy
5.2	2.5. Data analysis: kinome array	
5.3.	Results	
5.4.	Discussion	
CHAPT	TER 6: CONCLUSIONS	
REFER	ENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1.	Fold changes of day 2 cecal samples by treatment per panel
Figure 2.	Fold changes of day 4 cecal samples by treatment per panel
Figure 3.	Microbiota composition based on relative abundance: (A) Microbiota composition of day 2 chicken ceca; (B) Microbiota composition of day 4 chicken ceca
Figure 4.	PCoA charts using Unifrac for day 2 and day 4 comparison of treatments45
Figure 5.	The fold change values based on days tested of the mRNA expression assay for IL-6
Figure 6.	The fold change values based on days tested of the mRNA expression assay for IL-10
Figure 7.	IL-6 mRNA expression of cecal tissue from experimental chicks fed 1% ChT inclusion diet, determined by quantitative RT-PCR:78
Figure 8.	mRNA expression of cecal mRNA from experimental chicks fed 1% ChT inclusion diet, determined by quantitative RT-PCR85
Figure 9.	mRNA expression of cecal mRNA from experimental chicks fed 1% ChT inclusion diet, determined by quantitative RT-PCR

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primer and probe sequences 34
Table 2. The top listed median relative abundance (by %) of observed families in thececa of day 2 and 4 birds
Table 3. ANOSIM analysis of weighted Unifrac on different day comparisons within each treatment groups
Table 4. Calculated composition of starter diets. The total basal diet contained 1,365 kcal/lb. 56
Table 5. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR primer and probe sequences 58
Table 6. The top 15 GO metabolic BP identified at days 4, 6, and 10 comparing 1%ChT-fed birds against control birds.64
Table 7. Summarized table of KEGG metabolic pathways at days 4, 6, and 10comparing 1% ChT-fed birds and control birds.65
Table 8. Peptides from the JAK-STAT signaling pathway that displayed statistically significant change in phosphorylation
Table 9. Chemokine signaling pathway in chicken ceca on days 4, 6, and 10 of age80
Table 10. T cell receptor signaling pathway in chicken ceca on days 4, 6, and 10 of age

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Foodborne illnesses cause health and economic burden in the United States annually affecting 48 million people every year. *Salmonella* is estimated to cause 1.2 million illnesses, 23,000 hospitalizations, and 450 mortalities annually in the US (1). One of the major causes of human gastroenteritis is *Salmonella enterica* (*S. enterica*) due to infected poultry products. Although improved control measures have been implemented, *S. enterica* still continues to present an issue every year in the US (2). One of the many reasons is due to the chickens' ability to co-exist with *Salmonella* without showing any outward clinical signs of distress, also referred to as disease tolerance (3). By looking at the gut health of chickens, there may be more to their ability to co-exist with *Salmonella* is currently known.

Chickens present a unique immunological perspective due to the early interaction between the gut immune system and the microbiome. Commercial broiler chicks are placed on used litter which raises the risk of the naïve gut microbiome of neonatal chicks to be colonized by pathogenic bacteria, like *Salmonella*, and take advantage of this susceptible environment (2,4–6). Recent findings have speculated a two-part infection occurring in the chicken ceca: early (4 to 48 h) and late (4 to 14 d) infections with *S*. Enteritidis with three distinct immune-metabolic (herein referred to as immunometabolic) phases post-infection: disease resistance, disease tolerance, and homeostasis (3,7). This two-part dysbiotic phenomenon may attribute to the disease resistance to infection tolerance stage, not to be confused with immune tolerance (3). There is a lack of studies regarding the relationship of the metabolic and immunological changes occurring in the gut microbiota during Salmonella infection, especially in the chicken. While it is common knowledge that chickens infected with Salmonella do not manifest any obvious disease symptoms, the mechanism occurring in the host during infection has not been widely characterized. What is known are the basic steps of Salmonella pathogenesis in the infected host: attachment onto the mucous membrane, evasion of host defenses, multiplication to significant numbers at the site of infection, damage to the host, and transmission from the infected host to non-infected host (8). After oral ingestion by the host, *Salmonella* manages to survive in the acidic condition of the stomach due to an acid tolerance response (8,9). Once Salmonella makes its way to the intestine, the interaction with the mucosal surface is crucial for successful attachment. Inflammatory responses can occur in as little as few hours after oral ingestion. Not surprisingly, the damage to the host does not occur in the chicken. Instead, a state of persistence occurs, allowing for minimized host defense action. While this is not harmful for the chicken, it is not ideal downstream for human consumption (3).

While *Salmonella* in meat products are not desirable in the market, the producers have faced another challenge of curbing pathogens with antibiotics. In many countries, the use of antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) has been banned in animal feed, even at subtherapeutic levels. For over 60 years, bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD) and virginiamycin were widely incorporated at therapeutic levels in feed to prevent bacterial infections and to improve growth performance (10). Fluoroquinolones, such as nalidixic

acid and ciprofloxacin, have been used to control *Salmonella* but continual usage has resulted in the development of resistance from these pathogens (11). The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has issued the Veterinary Feed Directive (VFD) over the recent years to ensure proper usage of antimicrobial additives in food production animals (12). As a result, subtherapeutic levels of AGP, such as BMD, must now be provided under veterinary authorization.

Antibiotics are observed to be anti-inflammatory in nature (13) but do not provide much effect on the cecal colonization of Salmonella in birds (14). There has been increased interest in utilizing plant-based compounds or phytobiotics as AGP alternatives, including tannins. Tannins can be found in many plant species, mostly in the inedible portions of the plant, such as the bark or wood. Immunomodulation refers to a dietary product or additive that possesses anti-infective properties so that the host immune response can be stimulated to enhance antimicrobial effects and to limit inflammation-induced tissue damage (15,16). The bioactive compounds found in tannins allow them to be an effective immunomodulatory additive that promotes health (17). Previous studies have been conducted to evaluate the functionality of different tannin species against pathogenic infections (18–20). These studies showed inhibitory bacterial activity by varying concentrations of tannins (between 0.5-1 kg/ton). Furthermore, tannins have also been shown to improve feed efficiency, growth performance, and intestinal health when 0.5-1 kg/ton of tannins are added directly into the poultry feed (21). When it comes to immunity, chestnut tannins exert proinflammatory immune responses but only temporarily when anti-inflammatory response

follows soon after (22). According to a review by Redondo et al (23), most of the *Salmonella* studies performed with phytobiotic effects were done *in vitro*, presenting a need for more *in vivo* studies.

Based on current information, this project will provide useful evidence about disease progression from an immunometabolic perspective to fill in the knowledge gaps. The current knowledge is that Salmonella persistence changes the immunometabolic profile of the cecum to establish itself and induce disease tolerance. There is also a growing need to find alternatives to antibiotics (ATA) in feed and chestnut tannins are promising candidates to fill in the current knowledge gap. Therefore, the objective of this work was to elucidate the mechanisms of how *S*. Enteritidis affects immunometabolic tissue phenotype change in early broiler growth. This objective was approached in a two-prong viewpoint by looking at different functional gut health modifiers currently utilized in the industry and their role in the affecting the host tissue phenotype: antibiotic growth promoters (AGP) and chestnut tannins (ChT).

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Poultry gut microbiota review

2.1.1. Poultry gut microbiota and its relation to host health

The gut microbiota is responsible for maintaining the integrity and function of the GI tract but also indirectly affecting other health processes. It is crucial for nutrient metabolism and the prevention of pathogen colonization. The gut microbiota has also the most complex and diverse bacterial community found in the body. In newly hatched chicks, the GI tract is considered naïve or unstable, which provides ample opportunity for pathogens to invade and establish colonization in the gut for persistent infection throughout the chicks' lifespan (5). As the birds mature, the resident microbial communities stabilize and increase in diversity and taxonomic richness (24). Bacteria are the dominant taxa in the animal gut microbiome, consisting of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (25). These two bacteria have been shown to affect energy balance, nutrient absorption, and metabolism dysfunction (26). A previous study noted the increase in richness and diversity between 3-6 weeks of age in the cecal microbiota of broilers, most likely due to the diversification of Firmicutes (24). Within the Enterobacteriaceae family, opportunistic bacteria like Salmonella, Shigella, and Escherichia coli are part of the resident gut microbiome community (5). Any dysbiosis event, usually from ingestion, can easily trigger changes from beneficial or benign bacteria to pathogenic bacteria. Dysbiosis can occur for a few days or become a slow accumulating event. The disruption of the normal microbiota would allow certain bacteria to take advantage of the shifting energy source and rapidly colonize, outcompeting normal flora. The high prevalence of certain bacteria in the resident microbiota could alter the fitness to their advantage, potentially conditioning the chick GI tract to select for their colonization (5). Because of the heavy roles that gut microbiota plays in overall health, it is difficult to find a singular method that will encompass the role it plays throughout the body. Antibiotic intervention in humans modifies the gut microbiota so that once the antibiotic regime is finished, a new set of bacterial enzymes become active (27). As a result, the new set of enzymes promoted negative health consequences by favoring rapid assimilation of carbohydrates, inducing obesity or diabetes. Ultimately, a sub-optimal microbiota can induce a pro-inflammatory host response which would be detrimental to growth performance (28). With poultry production, this would greatly impact the feed conversion efficiency and growth performance due to altered gut microbiota (5).

2.1.2. Gut microbiota and their effects on immunity and metabolism

Beyond solely bacterial composition, another factor to consider is the host phenotype during gut modulation. In this case, phenotype is referring to the immune and metabolic alterations found on the tissue level. While studies have examined the host genotype as an important factor in affecting the gut microbiota composition, there is increased evidence that metabolism and immunity also play an influential role in gut microbiota in relation to gut health (5,29,30). This means the gut microbiota contributes to immunomodulation, affecting the innate and acquired immune system. Classic metabolic energy pathways, including AMPK and mTOR, are found to be linked to immune cell function, specifically relating to CD8+ T cell functions (3). Therefore, this link may be key to determining the function of the gut microbiota and the role of immune cells in metabolism. While increased inflammation may affect the animal's performance level, appetite and muscle catabolism, the shifting gut microbiota of young broilers would adjust for the imbalance and lead to less inflammation and energy expenditure for the animal (13,31). The presence of these signaling molecules is important for the epithelial cells at the site of infection and stimulation of macrophages to produce nitric oxide radicals (32). Recent work has demonstrated that certain antagonists allow pathogenic *Enterobacteriaceae* members including *Salmonella* spp. to upregulate the expression of antimicrobial proteins to survive (33). Thus, this disruption of the microbiota increases the pathogen's drive to survive by changing the state of inflammatory response. Furthermore, the presence of Enterobacteriaceae has been shown to influence the metabolites expressed in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), especially with short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) (30). Many SCFA are important for energy production for epithelial cells and immune cells including T cells and macrophages (34). Previous works have demonstrated the beneficial effects of SCFA in the gut, especially butyrate which serves as an energy source for epithelial cells, stimulates mucus production, and modulates the immune system while promoting pathogen control (35). Therefore, manipulating the nutritional composition of feed has the potential to improve host development and improve the immune system (36). Overall, we are aware of the GIT acting as the interface between diet, host, and gut microbiota while also serving essential roles in the animal's immunity and health.

However, more studies are needed to focus on the avian model to fully understand how it will impact the meat industry.

2.1.3. Functional gut health modifiers

Functional gut health modifiers are defined as therapeutic interventions aimed at altering the host immune response to effectively thwart disease states (27). The involvement of the gut microbiota to mount host defenses to modulate the immune system is already in use for human medicine (27). One approach that is currently being explored by our group involves host-directed immunomodulatory therapies to improve host health. Unfortunately, previous studies have only concluded on the direct effect of an additive on immunity, rather than considering how it affects the gut microbiota and its downstream effects (36). In the poultry industry, functional gut modifiers are also in use, such as BMD and phytobiotics, to improve poultry health and growth development. The usage of a functional gut health modifier, such as BMD, has been noted to improve performance by reducing inflammatory markers (13). These dietary modulators are used to alter the gut microbiota to protect from pathogens and modulate the immune system as well (37). Most AGP target Gram-positive bacteria since they are usually associated with poorer animal performance and growth (24). Furthermore, they may promote growth, proliferation, or intactness of beneficial and resident bacterial gut communities to confer protection against pathogens, such as Salmonella enterica (38). What is important to note is that to promote an optimal immune system, the host needs a balanced pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory response. The suppression of proinflammatory responses does not always reap benefits to the host immunity. In fact, it may make the initial immune response less effective while allowing pathogens to proliferate on the opportunity of imbalance (28). However, most of these studies have been performed in vitro, which concluded in variable results of AGP and its effects on phagocyte or immune cell functions (28).

Currently in the US, antibiotic usage in poultry feed is facing scrutiny due to antibiotic resistance and increased consumer awareness (21). The decline of AGP usage requires an alternative functional gut health modifier to be utilized by producers. As a result, phytobiotics have become ideal ATA due to the availability and accessibility. Phytobiotics have also been shown to enhance animal performance and nutrient availability, similar to AGP (17). The usage of phytobiotics has been included for many years as a natural growth promoter in livestock industries, such as the inclusion of herbs, spices, essential oils, and oleoresins (10,39). Although studies have shown enhanced immunity and health benefits of some phytobiotics, the mechanism of how they function is not clearly understood (21). Current speculation of the antimicrobial action of phytobiotics suggests disruption and/or modification of the cell membrane of the pathogen (39). Another study determined that phytobiotics may stimulate the immune system by activating lymphocytes, macrophages, and natural killer (NK) cells (40). A future ATA should consider the following effects: (1) optimal dose for immune effect; (2) the variations in active compounds in plant-derived products; (3) safety of these compounds for animal and human consumption; and (4) the long-term effects on antimicrobial resistance (21). This promotion of host health via modulating the gut

microbiota is a widely unexplored field in poultry and requires more studies to be conducted.

2.2. Salmonella enterica Enteritidis biology in the chicken

2.2.1. Salmonella and its influence on food production in the US

Salmonella enterica continues to be the leading cause of disease in food production animals and public health globally (9). Outbreaks commonly occur in meat, vegetable, and egg products worldwide. This leads to a global economic burden resulting in \$3.5 billion in loss of production and healthcare costs (41). There are over 2,500 known serotypes of S. enterica, two of which are widely studied for their prevalence in humans and food production animals: serotypes Typhimurium and Enteritidis (S. Enteritidis) (42). Due to the diversity of Salmonella spp., the control of infections has been difficult, in addition to reporting trends varying by states (43). Since the early 1960s, there has been an ongoing incidence of antimicrobial resistance in Salmonella strains particularly affecting the meat production industry (44). Despite improved safety methods, testing, and hygiene practices, infections continue to rise annually in industrialized and developing nations (44). Although improved antimicrobials were introduced, such as fluoroquinolones and nalidixic acid, there is growing resistance reported in Salmonella isolates globally. Currently, Salmonella spp. are resistant to most traditionally used antimicrobial agents such as ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole (44). Therefore, Salmonella continues to pose a challenge to the poultry production and public health realm.

2.2.2. Salmonella pathogenesis in chickens

When humans or mice are infected with *S. enterica* from the ingested route, the bacteria manage to survive gastric stomach passage and onto the small and large intestine's mucosal layer. First, Salmonella attaches to the mucosal membrane of the small intestine. Through an evolved series of mechanism, Salmonella can evade host defenses and multiply to a significant number at the site of infection or spread to other organs, using M cells on Peyer's patches to enter or via dendritic cells. They are then able to penetrate the intestinal epithelial cells depending on the pathogenicity islands (SPI) utilized for progression. This evolutionary mechanism by Salmonella is incredible because it is essentially inducing phagocytosis to gain access into the epithelial cell of the host. Both SPI-1 and SPI-2 encode type III secretion system (TTSS) which acts as a syringe full of virulence factors to successfully establish colonization (45). Once they are involved in the Peyer's patch, *Salmonella* will induce apoptosis of the phagocyte it is encapsulated in (whether it be dendritic cells or macrophages) to escape. This causes caspase-1 to cleave pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1B and IL-18 and to be released during apoptosis (46). This stimulates NK cells, macrophages, and T cells to produce IFN- γ in order to activate bactericidal activity and Th1 development (46). The build-up of inflammatory response may be responsible for damage to the intestinal wall and may contribute to the clinical manifestations in mammals (47).

Similar to mammals, chickens are infected via the fecal-oral route and once the pathogen reaches the distal ileum and/or cecum, they will attempt to outcompete the host

microbiota to establish infection (9). It manages to enter the lamina propria via Peyer's patches which will initiate the cascade of pro-inflammatory cytokines released (46). The ceca of the chickens are popularly observed sites of *Salmonella* colonization. The pathogenesis in chickens is similar to humans until the point where *Salmonella* infiltrates the epithelial cells. Similar to mammals, chickens also utilize SPI-1 and SPI-2 to evade host defenses although SPI-2 seems to be playing a role in the colonization of the spleen while SPI-1 plays a role in both cecum and spleen (48). Furthermore, a study looking into TTSS mutation in Typhimurium indicated that infection still occurs systemically in the chicken (49). Once the macrophages have ingested *Salmonella*, there is an upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-1 to the site of infection (50). The presence of these pro-inflammatory cytokines leads to infiltration of heterophils into the GIT.

Salmonella Enteritidis differs from the other Salmonella strains because of its ability to tolerate acidic and oxidative environments to persist effectively in the chicken GI tract, thus creating a persisting food safety issue (51). According to Kogut and Arsenault (3), chickens do not seem to display the classic strong pro-inflammatory response as mammalian species. Colonization of *S*. Enteritidis generates an influx of heterophils and macrophages as the pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines continue to be released (42). However, heterophils alone do not provide enough protective response against Salmonella, causing a significant decrease in proinflammatory cytokines which allows Salmonella (particularly seen in Enteritidis) to persist in this environment. This results in a metabolic reprogramming of the phenotype of the tissue (3). After this point, there is much speculation as to what occurs in the birds, and the only inferences that can be made are based on murine studies.

2.2.3. Salmonella persistence (disease resistance to disease tolerance)

Under physiological homeostasis, broiler chicks contain similar gut microbiota bacterial composition as humans: mostly consisting of obligate anaerobic Gram-negative bacteria and facultative anaerobic bacteria (2). At this point, the gut bacteria and the resident microbiota coexist but when pathogens invade, the resident microbiota can generate the proper immune response without causing overt damage to the tissues. However, under dysbiotic conditions, there is a shift in the gut microbiota community and an increase in the population of facultative anaerobes, causing a competition for resources and a disruption in the immunity. The act of the host defense responses of sensing and eliminating pathogens is often referred to as "disease resistance" (52). It is theorized that this mechanism alone does not establish a negative impact on pathogenic fitness but works in synchrony with the resident microbiota to respond to pathogens. As a result, disease tolerance, the ability to endure microbes and minimize physiological damage to the host, becomes established within the host (52,53). While tolerance seems ideal, it is also the act of remaining neutral to positive impact on microbial fitness, which may explain the co-evolution of host-microbe interactions (52). Disease resistance and tolerance have been well documented in murine models: the longer the pathogen persists in the host, tolerance defenses will prevail to balance the host-pathogen mutualism (54). The release of anti-inflammatory cytokines during the tolerance phase promotes hostpathogen interactions to persist by minimizing the damage by the immune system in response to the pathogen (54).

Parallel with the immune response, there is a metabolic component that plays a part with the microbiota during disease tolerance. Microbes need metabolic byproducts to support their survival and ensure success in colonization; this is done by changing the environment and nutrient supply during the infection process (52). The gut microbial communities that are in close proximity to host tissue work in a close relationship, therefore, when dysbiosis occurs, the gut epithelial cells of the tissue becomes vulnerable to pathogenic or opportunistic attacks (54). The host immune response will contribute to tissue damage while elevating an inflammatory response to attempt to remove the pathogen. Eventually, the host will return to an energy homeostasis, which only aids the host tolerance of the microbiota (55). However, the immune responses to rid of the pathogen cost the host significant energy which will affect the gut microbiota and metabolic products downstream (54). A study performed with inflammasome-deficient mice suggested that inflammasome activation by the microbiota affects the energy consumption which contributes to the onset of tolerance (56).

Similar to mice, *Salmonella* takes advantage of this shifting opportunity to successfully establish persistence in the GI tract by evading chicken immune responses. As the pathogen continues to proliferate, there is an increase in signaling for proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1B and IL-6 (2). Concurrently, the metabolism is altered due to the immunological response. Our group has performed numerous studies to demonstrate the similar resistance to tolerance switch in the chicken model, proposing that *Salmonella* infection can be separated into 3 distinct stages of host defense strategies as characterized by immunometabolic responses: 1) stage 1, disease resistance; 2) stage 2, disease tolerance; 3) stage 3, homeostasis. The disease resistance stage is mediated by mTOR protein synthesis, due to the pro-inflammatory state (3).

Stage 1 or disease resistance is when *Salmonella* invasion of the GI tract induces inflammation due to an elevated response of pro-inflammatory cytokines (57). This inflammatory response stays elevated until days 3-4 post-infection when there is a reduction of pro-inflammatory response. Concurrently, the tissue metabolism is affected due to the influx of heterophils and other immune cells that cause an increase in fatty acid synthesis, glycolysis, and protein synthesis (58). The presence of these polymorphonuclear leukocytes rapidly depletes the environmental oxygen supply, promoting the influx of hypoxia-inducible factor- α (HIF1 α) to resolve the inflammatory responses which would regulate further tissue damage. This initial inflammatory response, designated by Kogut and Arsenault (3) as disease resistance in chickens, aids in the development of a protective acquired immune response to clear GI infections.

Stage 2 or disease tolerance is classified by the presence of increasing regulatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β at the beginning, developing an anti-inflammatory environment (3). The expansion of T_{reg} cells in the ceca also increases IL-10 mRNA expression to ultimately help with the clearance of *Salmonella* in the host (60). Our group has further confirmed the definitive resistance to tolerance phenotype switch by discovering the two altered immune signaling pathways: JAK-STAT and T cell receptor

pathways (58). Concurrently, the alterations to the immune response affect the metabolism in the ceca of *Salmonella*-infected chickens, undergoing an initially mTOR-mediated pathway to AMPK-directed oxidative phosphorylation (61). It appears *Salmonella* prefers macrophages that utilize oxidative metabolism for energy which signals the activation of NLRP3 inflammasomes and pyroptosis (3).

The 3rd stage (homeostasis) occurs after day 4 post-infection with similar parameters as the tolerance stage. This was confirmed by the persisting presence of IL-10 and TGF- β mRNA levels and no changes observed in the metabolic or immune signaling pathways in *Salmonella*-infected ceca (58). Conditions that will affect the energy homeostasis status, such as anorexia and malnutrition, reduces metabolic substrate availability to maintain the energy demands of growth development (52). More studies need to be conducted to determine more canonical parameters for this stage.

2.2.4. Current Salmonella knowledge and its influence on poultry immunity

While there are increasing information available on murine immunity against *Salmonella* infection, there are still limited information on the immune response on livestock animals, including chickens. Chickens, as our main study model, possess pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) compared to mammals, especially when looking into Toll-like receptors (TLR) (36). Different TLRs will initiate different innate immune responses in animal immunity. For example, certain TLRs will recognize pathogen associated molecule patterns (PAMP), signaling the innate immunity to respond accordingly such as heterophil activation (62). Chicken TLR2 type 2 has been found to

respond to LPS and induce oxidative burst, serving a potential role in the chicken's innate immune response. PAMP are only found on pathogens, thus it is a feature that the innate immunity should recognize as non-self. PAMP are recognized via cell-extrinsic pathway involving TLRs and cell-intrinsic pathway involving inflammasome creation (36). Within the cell-extrinsic pathway, the bacteria are detected by dendritic cells through TLRs where the PAMP are formed into phagosome, which is then presented on the MHC II complex and induces cytokine and co-stimulatory molecules for T lymphocyte activation. The cell-intrinsic pathway also occurs on dendritic cells and activates T lymphocytes but it can present on both MHC I and II depending on the type of PAMP detected. These are crucial for host defense against viruses, bacteria, parasites and fungi but need to be strictly controlled because excessive inflammation will be harmful to the host (may cause pyroptosis) (62). The inflammasome is also important for the activation of an enzyme (caspase) that initiates the stimulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Once PAMP are recognized, different signals are induced: 1) mediation of inflammatory responses by IL-1, TNF-a, IL-6 and IFNs; 2) mediation of costimulators of T-cell stimulation; and 3) mediators of effector cell functions such as IL-4, IL-10 and TGF- β and IFN- γ (36,62,63).

The mechanism of intestinal colonization is not the same as intestinal disease persistence. As mentioned before, once colonization occurs in the "early phase of infection" (usually upon day of infection to day 2 in broilers), the host defense switches from disease resistance to a disease tolerance phase (usually upon day 3 or 4 in broilers) (15,29). This type of tolerance occurs when *Salmonella* persistence cannot be rid of; therefore, the host defense limits the damage done to tissues (by itself and the pathogen) instead of continuing an effort to keep increased pro-inflammation which would further create tissue damage. After day 4 post-infection, the pro-inflammatory immune response is largely reduced to the presence of anti-inflammatory cytokine release and the host defense no longer seems to recognize *Salmonella* as a pathogenic threat, letting it persistently colonize in the ceca. In terms of metabolism, the mTOR protein synthesis pathway is turned off in the ceca and switches to an AMPK pathway, which is indicative of an anti-inflammatory state. This metabolic and immunological phenotypic change creates an ideal environment for *Salmonella* to persist.

From day 1 to day 16 of age in chicks, IL-17 and IL-22 are induced by the presence of *S. enterica* Enteritidis infection with the receptor of the respective cytokines present across the days of infection (2). Induction of IL-17 in the first week of the chicken's life stage is thought to result in an influx and differentiation of Th17 cells in response to microbiota colonization (64). If the birds reencounter *S.* Enteritidis by day 16, there is an increased Th17-dependent resistance that protects the birds from *Salmonella* damage in the liver and spleen and a reduced cytokine expression of IL-22 and IL-17 in older birds (2).

2.2.5. Salmonella and its effects on the gut microbiota

As mentioned before, *Salmonella* can colonize post-hatch chicks and affect their gut microbiota to where beneficial microbes in the intestine and ceca cannot establish properly (65). They can contract *Salmonella* from external factors such as water, food,

and the litter. Many of the taxa present in the chicken GIT already include *Salmonella* spp. as part of the gut resident microbial community (26). The ability of *Salmonella* to cause disease depends on the age of the bird, immune status or bacterial load of the strain (9). Generally, older birds are resistant to infection or colonization of *Salmonella*. In young birds, the infection with *Salmonella* post-hatch can be detrimental to the overall development of the gut microbiota, resulting in an inflammatory response of the GI tract which influences the microbiota composition (66,67). Videnska et al. (66) also concludes that the changes in the cecal microbiota after *Salmonella* challenge can be characterized as an indirect result of the infection, and not as a selected evolutionary mechanism. A fully functional, mature microbial community is vital for the host's ability to confer protection against pathogenic colonization to then ensure optimal growth and development (67).

2.3. Kinome and post-translational modification review

2.3.1. Importance of kinomics

Studying phosphorylation events provides the mechanism of post-translational modification (PTM), which offers insight in cellular and tissue phenotypic mechanisms (68,69). These are catalyzed by kinases which eventually provide phosphorylation events. Peptide arrays for kinomic analysis have already been widely utilized across scientific disciplines (69–72). Peptide arrays for kinomic analysis utilize peptides which represent kinase target sites which are then synthesized, and its activity is measured by the array (71). They are already heavily utilized in detecting kinase activity associated

with diabetes, inflammation, cancers, and other disorders (73). The kinome array provides functional phenotype data, indicating the changes within tissue metabolism and immune response to an infection (29). Recent advancements have provided a speciesspecific peptide array for livestock species, including poultry (69,74). Protein phosphorylation determines its functional importance by regulating critical parameters of protein activity, stability, and interactions (73). The peptide array can provide immunometabolic phenotype data as well as functionality data. The peptides selected for the array fall into one of three categories: 1) peptides that could be considered part of the central cellular signaling hubs (for example, AKT, MAPK, PI3K), 2) peptides involved in the innate and adaptive immune systems; and 3) peptides involved in metabolic processes (for example, glycolysis, fatty acid synthesis, protein catabolism, protein synthesis) (75).

Although the field of transcriptomics is highly popular, the drawback of transcriptomics is that there are several processes and potential disruptions that can occur before the final active protein is generated. These include gene silencing, mRNA stability, translation, translational efficiencies, protein turnover, sequestration of enzymes from substrates, and the multitude of post-translation modifications (72). Although the study of the genome and genes is important, genes provide data on only what is present, rather than dynamic data across complex disciplines, such as host-pathogen interactions, immune responses, metabolic response, and affected effector cells (3). In other words, the genome is constant, but the proteome varies and is dynamic even within tissues. Gene transcription does not necessarily result in translation due to

mutations or silencing events before the production of a protein (75). A single protein can activate enzymatic activity on one site while deactivating or phosphorylating another site (75). For example, c-Src requires a combination of phosphorylation and dephosphorylation to be activated simultaneously. Therefore, it is important to be able to track phosphorylation events and its activity downstream.

2.3.2. Chicken-specific kinome arrays

Our group has contributed to the design of chicken-specific kinomic peptide array through the curation of phosphorylation databases such as PhosphoSitePlus (www.phosphosite.org) and PhosphoELM (phospho.elm.eu.org). While the human and mouse phosphorylation databases are well-documented, these databases need to be utilized for the design of chicken-specific arrays (75). Out of the 200,000 phosphorylation target sites, about 70-75% were exact matches to the chicken proteomes (76). However, this has proven to be an advantage because there would be no potential cross-reactivity between human phosphorylation target sites and chicken kinases. Therefore, the species-specific kinome array also has an advantage over antibody arrays for immune validation purposes. Some of the classic energy metabolic sensors, such as AMPK and mTOR, are linked to innate and adaptive immunity (77). By elucidating the kinase activity, insights into identifying specific biomarkers will provide future therapeutic targets (69). Previously, our group has determined that Salmonella affects the fat deposition and carbohydrate metabolism in challenged chickens with the utilization of the kinome array (29). Thus, this integrated array demonstrates the importance of

combined immunity and metabolic data on the animal's overall health and growth performance.

2.4. Phytobiotics and immunity

2.4.1. Phytobiotics introduction

Feed additives have been known to indirectly modulate the intestinal microbiota by altering host immunity (78). The utilization of polyphenolic compounds (or phytochemicals) as pharmaceutical alternatives has been extensively studied over the years, including flavonoids, phenolic acids, and tannins, to improve host immunity and development (79). Phytochemicals are plant-derived bioactive compounds that enhance health and have been regarded in traditional medicine for its antimicrobial and antiviral activities in humans (21). By moving away from antibiotics in livestock production, there is a growing interest from the poultry industry to find plant-based alternatives to replace antibiotics in feed. There has been increased interest in utilizing plant-based compounds or phytobiotics as ATA (37,80). These phytobiotic feed additives are commonly used in traditional treatments although the mechanisms of how they function are widely unknown (81). The current knowledge, as summarized by Lillehoj et al. (21), is that the active ingredients in phytobiotics alters the host microbiota, providing antimicrobial activities against pathogens, and reduces oxidative stress to improve overall health of the animal. A review published by Diaz Sanchez et al. (39) tabulates phytobiotic studies with effects on performance and inclusion rate. Extensive studies have been performed in other food production species, particularly in swine, which exhibited evidence of phytobiotics as

likely alternatives to antibiotics to improve growth performance and health (20,82,83). Ruminant production has increased interest in growth promoters because of the efficient utilization of energy during rumen fermentation (84). Although the data vary between each type of phytobiotic classification, the ideal antibiotic alternative would alter the host microbiota to guide protein and lipid metabolism, promote effective nutrient utilization, and prevent harmful infections to the host (85). Furthermore, the site of *Salmonella* and other foodborne pathogens is the cecum, located at the posterior end of the GIT. This poses another challenge for the development of an ATA because the phytobiotic must retain its activity during the movement through the GIT (39). One of these promising phytobiotics extensively studied in the literature is tannins, a readily found plant-based compound with antimicrobial activities and growth performance promotion (21).

2.4.2. Tannins

Tannins can be found in many plant species, mostly in the inedible portions of the plant such as the bark or wood (17,86). The previous knowledge was that tannins possess anti-nutritional effects in livestock species but with new evidence, the benefits show promising results across livestock species depending on the dosages and quality of tannins in the feed (37,87). Within the tannin subcategory, there are two major classes: hydrolysable tannins and condensed tannins. It is believed that tannins may exert their biological effects in two different ways: (1) as an unabsorbable (condensed) structure with binding properties which may produce local effects in the gastrointestinal tract (antioxidant, radical scavenging, antimicrobial, antiviral, antimutagenic and antinutrient
effects), or (2) as absorbable (hydrolysable) tannins (probably due to low molecular weight) and absorbable metabolites from colonic fermentation of tannins that may produce systemic effects in various organs (88). Studies have shown that tannins are not only effective immunomodulatory additives (17) but also enhances metabolic functions, such as decreased lipid oxidation (89) and increased beneficial fatty acids (90).

The active ingredients in phytobiotics alter the host microbiota, providing antimicrobial activities against pathogens, and reduce oxidative stress to improve the overall health of the animal (21). Previous studies have revealed that incorporating low concentrations of tannins in diets improved the health status, nutrition, and performance of the animal (21,86,91). For many livestock species, high concentration of tannins in the diet reveals the opposite: decreased overall immune function, reduced weight, and reduced nutrient digestibility (91,92). Chestnut tannins (*Castanea sativa* Mill) and quebracho tannins (*Schinopsis lorentzii* Engl.) have had the same promising results as noted previously, with the addition of antibacterial, antioxidant, and antiviral potential (86,93). It has been observed that both types of tannins have been successful in controlling or diminishing the incidence of foodborne pathogens, such as *Salmonella* (23), *Campylobacter* spp. (94), and *Clostridium perfringens* (23,95).

Previous studies have shown the promising antibacterial effects of both hydrolysable and condensed tannins, although their antibacterial activities may differ based on molecular weights and concentrations provided in feed (37,94,95). Tannic acid is a hydrolysable polyphenol found in tannins, with evidence of beneficial effects on health due to its antioxidant properties, such as disruption of virus mechanism as shown in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), *Herpes simplex* virus (HSV), and Norovirus models (96,97). In terms of how tannins affect the immune system, the mechanism is still widely unknown. Some heavily researched tannins such as Oenothein B, an isolated ellagitannin from *Epilobium angustifolium*, has been studied for its ability to inhibit or promote inflammatory responses by phagocytes (98,99). This compound also activates human CD3+ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, CD8+ T cells, and CD3-/CD56+ NK cells, which led to the production of IFN- γ (99). In another study by Ramstead et al. (100), the immune response differs based on the age of the human, primarily that T cells of younger humans produce significantly less IFN- γ and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) than adults in response to ellagitannins. Similar results have been shown in murine cells, with the increased frequencies of CD8+ IFN- γ T cells (101). These results show the immunomodulatory potential of tannins and their ability to contribute to antiviral activity. However, it is important to consider variables, such as the age of host or ingested concentration, when interpreting the response of tannins on the immune system.

There are currently a growing number of publications looking into the efficacy of tannins with antimicrobial potential by improving the host immunity. It has been established that tannins exhibit anti-inflammatory effects in the host due to lowered counts of lymphocytes (102–104). This protective activity reduces inflammation and tissue damage caused by infectious agents (103). While this is not specific to chestnut or quebracho tannins, several studies have shown that treatment with ellagitannin geraniin stimulates murine macrophages to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines including tumor

necrosis factor (TNF) and interferon (105). Therefore, the potential for immune modulation by chestnut or quebracho extracts are highly probable in animal models. Another recent *in vivo* study performed by Ramah et al. (91) demonstrated that lower concentrations of tannins in basal diets improved immune response, increasing CD4+ CD8+ cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen of chickens compared to the control group. Furthermore, chickens fed lower concentrations of tannins had increased IFN- γ mRNA expression level stimulating the immune responses reflected by the increasing $\gamma\delta$ T cell population (91). There are currently mixed reviews on the immunostimulant or immunosuppressant effects of tannins, requiring further clarification in studies of how tannins modulate the immune response (79).

Therefore, there is a need for more host-phytobiotic interaction studies to understand the mechanism of tannins' effect on immunity. The research on this topic has gained recent popularity due to finding effective alternatives to antibiotics in production animal feed. Further studies should be conducted to elucidate the full mechanism of how tannins may act on microbial infections.

CHAPTER 3: "A ROLE FOR THE MICROBIOTA IN THE IMMUNE PHENOTYPE ALTERATION ASSOCIATED WITH THE INDUCTION OF DISEASE TOLERANCE AND PERSISTENT ASYMPTOMATIC INFECTION OF SALMONELLA IN THE CHICKEN."

3.1. Introduction

Foodborne illnesses cause health and economic burden in the United States annually affecting 48 million people every year. One of the major causes of human gastroenteritis is Salmonella enterica Enteritidis due to infected poultry products, accounting for 40-60% of all reported cases (43). Although improved control measures have been implemented, S. enterica still continues to present an issue every year in US livestock (2). One of the many reasons is due to the chickens' ability to co-exist with Salmonella without showing any outward clinical signs of distress, also referred to as disease tolerance, and increased antimicrobial resistance due to overuse of antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) (3). Although the mechanism of how AGPs improve animal performance is still unclear, Diaz Carrasco et al. (37) speculate it is through intestinal microbiota modulation, specifically in the ceca for the chicken, whether it is dietary-related or pathogen-related. There needs to be studies focusing on identifying the mechanism of how broad-spectrum antibiotics, such as bacitracin methylene disalicylate (BMD), work in the host gut towards improving the overall health of food production animals. Therefore, focusing on the gut microbiota may provide insights on improved mechanisms and health management strategies. Increasing studies are showing the importance of the gut microbiota and its role in digestion, host immunity, immune protection, and protection against pathogen colonization (106). Recent studies have reported the ceca containing the most diverse bacterial populations in the GIT: phyla *Bacteroides, Proteobacteria* and Firmicutes are the most dominantly observed (26,37,106). Many of the taxa present in the chicken GIT are of human relevance, including *Salmonella* spp. and certain *Campylobacter* spp. (26).

Chickens present a unique immunological perspective due to the early interaction between the gut immune system and the microbiome. Commercial broiler chicks are placed on used litter which raises the risk of the naïve gut microbiome of neonatal chicks to be colonized by pathogenic bacteria, like Salmonella Enteritidis (S. Enteritidis), and take advantage of this susceptible environment (2,4–6). Recent findings have speculated a phenomenon occurring in the chicken ceca with early (4 to 48 h) and late (4 to 14 d) infections with S. Enteritidis, resulting in three distinct immune-metabolic phases: disease resistance, disease tolerance, and homeostasis (7,36). There is a lack of studies regarding the symbiosis between the metabolic and immunological (immunometabolic) changes occurring in the gut microbiota during Salmonella infection, especially in the chicken. Once Salmonella enters the intestine, the interaction with the mucosal surface is crucial for successful attachment. Inflammatory responses can occur in as little as few hours after oral ingestion. Not surprisingly, the damage to the host step does not occur in the chicken. Instead, a state of persistence occurs, allowing for minimized host defense action. While this is not harmful for the health of the chicken, it is not ideal downstream for human consumption. This phenotypic alteration event has been theorized as a survival mechanism of Salmonella in poultry to minimize host defenses (3).

Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the role of the microbiota in the immune phenotype changes induced by *S*. Enteritidis infection using subtherapeutic levels of BMD. The results from this study will provide crucial perspectives on how broad range antibiotics act on the ceca, especially during a *Salmonella* infection, and improvements on poultry intestinal health.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Experimental animals, housing, and treatments

All experiments conducted were in accordance with the guidelines set by the United States Department of Agriculture Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC #2019-003). By-product broiler eggs (N=112) were obtained from a commercial hatchery. The fertile eggs were incubated (GQF Manufacturing Company, Savannah, GA; Jamesway Incubator Company, Inc., Ontario, Canada; or Petersime Incubator Co., Gettysburg, PA) and maintained at wet and dry bulb temperatures of 32°C and 37°C, presented as relative humidity. After 10 days of incubation, the eggs were candled; nonfertile and non-viable eggs were discarded. The viable eggs were returned to the incubator until day 18 when they were transferred to hatchers (Humidaire Incubator Company, New Madison, OH) and maintained under the same temperature and humidity conditions until hatch. At hatch, the chicks were randomly distributed into one of four groups (28 chicks/group): T1) non-infected birds fed a broiler starter diet alone; T2) *S*. Enteritidis challenged birds fed a broiler starter diet alone; T3) non-infected birds fed a broiler starter diet containing bacitracin at the inclusion rate of 50 g/imperial ton; T4) *S*. Enteritidis challenged birds fed a broiler starter diet containing BMD at the inclusion rate of 50 g/imperial ton (Zoetis Inc., Parsippany, NJ, USA).

All chicks were randomly distributed into each group in pens with fresh pine shavings, water, and starter diet *ad libitum*. They were maintained in BSL-2 isolation units under 96 h light and then followed by 18 h light and 6 h dark until the end of the study. The temperature in the room was held between 90°F to 95°F (temperature decreasing to 90°F by day 10). Birds were monitored daily for the entire experimental period. This study was repeated three times under identical parameters.

3.2.2. Bacteria preparation

Upon hatching, all chicks were orally challenged with 10⁶⁻⁸ CFU/0.5 mL *S*. Enteritidis or mock challenge with 0.5 mL sterile 1xPBS. This *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis isolate was obtained from the National Veterinary Services Laboratory (Ames, IA, USA), selected for resistance to novobiocin (25 ug/mL) and nalidixic acid (20 ug/mL) in tryptic soy broth (Difco Laboratories, Sparks, MD, USA). The viable cell concentration of the challenge dose for each experiment was determined by colony counts on XLT4 agar base plates with XLT4 supplement (Difco Laboratories, Sparks, MD, USA) and nalidixic acid and novobiocin (XLT-NN).

3.2.3. Bacterial enumeration and detection

For bacterial enumeration, the cecal contents (0.25 g/bird) were collected, serially diluted to 1:100, 1:1000, 1:10000, 1:100000, and plated onto XLT4 for

Salmonella detection. These plates will be incubated at 37°C for 24 hours for colony counts. For the enrichment, 100 ul of the cecal contents were pre-enriched in Rappaport-Vassiliadis broth for 24 hours at 37°C.

3.2.4. Sample collection and processing

On each necropsy day (day 2 and 4, post-infection), 14 birds/group were randomly selected and euthanized via cervical dislocation. The cecal contents were collected for bacterial enumeration and microbiome analysis. Half of the ceca were collected and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for kinome and the other halves were stored in RNALater for gene expression studies. This trial was repeated two more times for three total separate experiments.

3.2.5. Microbiome sequencing

For the microbiota studies, the remaining contents from each ceca (ranging from 300-500 mg per cecal sample) were submitted to a core sequencing facility at the University of Arkansas, Fayetteville (N=14/treatment/day/experiment; 336 cecal contents submitted total). DNA was extracted from the ceca samples taken at the indicated time points (day 2 and 4) using the Qiagen Qiamp Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The DNA purity was assessed and then the DNA samples were diluted to 10 ng/mL. The paired-end sequencing libraries were prepared by targeting the hypervariable region 4 of the 16S ribosomal RNA with PCR primers containing the linker and adapter sequence. The libraries were assessed for qualitative

and quantitative homogeneity, and then sequenced using the Illumina MiSeq platform as previously described (107).

3.2.6. Microbiome bioinformatic analysis

Data sequences were uploaded onto BaseSpace (www.basespace.illumina.com) (Illumina, San Diego, CA, United States) to determine sequence run quality and run completion. De-multiplexed data were downloaded locally and uploaded onto QIIME2-2018.8 via the Casava1.8 paired-end pipeline. All data analysis on QIIME2 were conducted using the q2cli interface. Data were visualized and then trimmed in DADA2 using the chimera consensus pipeline. Alpha and beta diversity were then computed via the QIIME phylogeny align-to-tree-mafft-fasttree methodology, and analyzed for all available metrics of alpha and beta diversity via QIIME diversity core-metrics-phylogenetic, with a sampling depth of 14,000 reads for both diversity and alpha-rarefaction analysis. Taxonomic assignment was conducted using the QIIME feature-classifier classify-sklearn Bayesian methodology with the QIIME2-2018.8 SILVA database. PERMANOVA was used to calculate statistically significant differences in alpha and beta diversity. Nonparametric test ANOSIM was used to compare the similarity between the bacterial composition within treatments using UniFrac.

3.2.7. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR

The immune genotyping portion was quantitated by gene expression studies, through a TaqMan based assay adapted from Eldaghayes et al. (108). Total RNA was extracted using a Qiagen RNeasy[®] Plus kit (Germantown, MD, USA) and evaluated with a NanoDropTM 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Ceca stored in RNALater were used for RNA isolation with the Qiagen Rneasy Plus Kit. The ceca were cut longitudinally to expose the lumen and any remaining fecal matter was gently removed with forceps as to not disturb the mucosal layer.

Cytokine mRNA expression levels were ascertained using RT-PCR with 28S as the reference gene. The RNAs were stored in -80°C until plate setup. The cytokines IL-1B, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , and TNF- α were quantified utilizing the Eldaghayes et al. method (108). Primer and probe sequences (**Table 1**) for amplification have been described previously by Kogut et al. (109) and Kaiser et al. (50). The plates were run in the Applied Biosystems ABI StepOne Plus PCR system (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) with the previously stated TaqMan Assay under the following conditions: one cycle of 48°C for 30 min, 95°C for 20 s, and 40 cycles of 95°C for 3 s and 60°C for 30 s. Normalization was carried out against 28S rRNA, which was used as a housekeeping gene. To correct for differences in RNA levels between samples within the experiment, the correction factor for each sample was calculated by dividing the mean threshold cycle (Ct) value for 28S rRNA-specific product for each sample by the overall mean Ct value for the 28S rRNA-specific product from all samples. The corrected cytokine mean was calculated as follow: (average of each replicate × cytokine slope)/(28S slope \times 28S correction factor). Fold changes in mRNA levels were calculated from mean 40 Ct values. Each sample was run in triplicates for technical replication.

RNA target		Probe/primer sequences	Accession
285	Probe	5'-(FAM)-AGGACCGCTACGGACCTCCACCA-(TAMRA)-3'	X59733
	F	5'-GGCGAAGCCAGAGGAAACT-3'	
	R	5'-GACGACCGATTGCACGTC-3'	
IL-1β	Probe	5'-(FAM)-CCACACTGCAGCTGGAGGAAGCC-(TAMRA)-3'	AJ245728
	F	5'-GCTCTACATGTCGTGTGTGATGAG-3'	
	R	5'-TGTCGATGTCCCGCATGA-3'	
IL-6	Pro	be 5'-(FAM)-AGGAGAAATGCCTGACGAAGCTCTCCA-(TAMRA)-3'	AJ250838
	F	5'-GCTCGCCGGCTTCGA-3'	
	R	5'-GGTAGGTCTGAAAGGCGAACAG-3'	
TNF-α	Probe	5'-(FAM)-TGCTGAGAAGGAACAAACTGGTGGT-(TAMRA)-3'	AJ009800
	F	5'-CCCATCCCTGGTCCGTAA-3'	
	R	5'- GGCGGCGTATACGAAGTAAAG-3'	
IL-10	Probe	5'-(FAM)-CGACGATGCGGCGCTGTCA-(TAMRA)-3'	AJ621614
	F	5'-CATGCTGGGGCCTGAA-3'	
	R	5'-CGTCTCCTTGATCTGCTTGATG-3'	
IFN-γ	Probe	5'-(FAM)-TGGCCAAGCTCCCGATGAACGA-(TAMRA)-3'	Y07922
	F	5'-GTGAAGAAGGTGAAAGATATATCATGGA-3'	
	R	5'-GCTTTGCGCTGGATTCTCA-3'	

 Table 1. Primer and probe sequences

3.2.8. Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR and microbiome analysis

Cytokine mRNA expression for control and treated ceca from days 2 and 4 were quantitated using a method described by Kaiser et al. (50) and Moody et al. (110). Statistical analysis was performed with SAS (version 9.4, Cary, NC, USA) based on the data collected from each trial for the qRT-PCR data. The Shapiro-Wilk's test for normality was used to determine if the fold change within each group was parametric or non-parametric, with an alpha of 0.05. For all analyses, statistical significance was considered if $P \le 0.05$. All data were found to be non-parametric and were summarized

as median values. An ad-hoc analysis using the Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted to determine where the statistical differences lie between treatments. The ceca samples for the IL-1B, IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , and IFN- γ were quantified using the 40-C_t method, as outlined by Eldaghayes et al. (108). The results were reported in fold change values.

The frequency of bacterial families were submitted to the Kruskal-Wallis test under non-parametric one-way ANOVA and if there were significant differences seen ($P \le 0.05$), a post-hoc analysis using Dunn's multiple comparison test to separate the means using GraphPad Prism (version 8.0, La Jolla, CA, USA). For the microbiome correlation analysis, Pearson correlation analysis between the mean percentage of bacterial families and the fold change of cytokines was performed using SAS (version 9.4, Cary, NC, USA) with $\alpha \le 0.05$. The Pearson correlation was carried out within each treatment on day 2 and day 4.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results

All results are reported as averaged triplicate experiments. Overall, there was significant upregulation of proinflammatory and regulatory cytokines in *S*. Enteritidis challenged birds given BMD on day 4 (T4) than non-infected birds given bacitracin (T3), indicating a stimulation of the immune system. Notably, there were statistically significant fold changes on day 2 of IL-1 β in T2, IL-6 in T2 and T4, IL-10 in T2 and T4, TNF- α in T2 and T4, and IFN- γ in T4 (**Figure 1**). In day 4, there were statistically significant fold changes of IL-1 β in T2 and T4, IL-10 in T2 and T4, TNF- α

in T2 and T4, and IFN- γ in T4. As previously shown, *Salmonella* induces proinflammatory response within 2 days of infection and reprogrammed to antiinflammatory response by day 4. However, the treatment of birds with bacitracin inhibited the reprogramming in the *Salmonella* challenged birds (T4) (**Figure 2**).



Figure 1. Fold changes of day 2 cecal samples by treatment per panel

(a) Day 2 fold changes by treatment for IL-1 β ; (b) Day 2 fold changes by treatment for IL-6; (c) Day 2 fold changes by treatment for IL-10; (d) Day 2 fold changes by treatment for TNF- α ; (e) Day 2 fold changes by treatment for IFN- γ . All results are reported as averaged triplicate experiments. The starred bars indicate differing levels of significant p-values. Each treatment (N=42) is compared to T1.



Figure 2. Fold changes of day 4 cecal samples by treatment per panel

(a) Day 4 fold changes by treatment for IL-1 β ; (b) Day 4 fold changes by treatment for IL-6; (c) Day 4 fold changes by treatment for IL-10; (d) Day 4 fold changes by treatment for TNF- α ; (e) Day 4 fold changes by treatment for IFN- γ . All results are reported as averaged triplicate experiments. The starred bars indicate differing levels of significant p-values. Each treatment (N=42) is compared to T1.

3.3.2. Microbiome composition

To understand whether bacitracin-treatment alteration of the cecal microbiota composition could account for the inhibition of immune reprogramming in salmonellainfected birds, the cecal microbiota was evaluated for both days 2 and 4 for all treatment groups. Relative abundances are reported as median values (**Table 2**) and only the high frequency bacterial families are reported. Across all treatments, there was increased diversity of taxa in day 4 compared to day 2. The most abundant bacterial families observed in the ceca were *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Clostridiaceae* during day 2 (Figure **3a**). The 16S rRNA sequence analysis of the ceca microbiome (day 2) of control birds fed control feed (T1) revealed a microbiome dominated by the family *Clostridiaceae*. Birds infected with Salmonella fed control feed (T2) was dominated by Enterobacteriaceae (73.6%) followed by lesser presence of Clostridiaceae (23.5%). Birds fed bacitracin (T3) had mostly the presence of *Clostridiaceae* (86.5%) followed by a much lesser presence of *Enterobacteriaceae* (4.45%). In the final group with birds infected by Salmonella fed a bacitracin feed (T4), there was mostly the presence of Enterobacteriaceae (68.1%) followed by Clostridiaceae (25%). By day 4 (Figure 3b), there was an increased diversity of the microbiome, still dominated by *Clostridiaceae* but with increased presence of Paenibacillaceae and Enterobacteriaceae. In the treatment group with SE infection fed control feed (T2), there were mostly Enterobacteriaceae (>50%) and lesser presence of Clostridiaceae in day 2 ceca. By day 4, there were still mostly Enterobacteriaceae and Clostridiaceae but with increased presence of *Paenibacillaceae*. The control group (T1) was still mostly dominated by

Clostridiaceae (69.1%) but with a marked increase of *Paenibacillaceae* (8.23%) and starting presence of *Bacillaceae* (1.7%). Birds infected with *Salmonella* fed control feed (T2) was observed to have decreased frequency of *Enterobacteriaceae* (58.9%) as compared to day 2, and a starting presence of *Paenibacillaceae* (3.02%) with not much change in the *Clostridiaceae* frequency (23.8%). In the non-infected group fed with bacitracin (T3), the cecal composition has varying changes: large *Clostridiaceae* (12.3%) and *Paenibacillaceae* (7.25%). The final group of birds challenged with *Salmonella* fed with bacitracin feed (T4) also had increased frequency of *Lachnospiraceae* (1.25%) and *Paenibacillaceae* (1.98%) but still dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae* (48.5%) and *Clostridiaceae* (34.3%).

When comparing *Salmonella* challenged group (T2) with *Salmonella* challenged with bacitracin in feed group (T4), there is not much difference in diversity and frequency of families on day 2 but there is a notable decrease of *Enterobacteriaceae* and increase of *Lachnospiraceae*, and to a lesser degree, increased frequency of *Clostridiaceae* and decreased frequency of *Paenibacillaceae*. For the less abundant families, there were statistically significant differences within those groups. There was an observed 10.5% decrease in *Clostridiaceae* between T2 and T4 on Day 4 as well as a 10% decrease in *Enterobacteriaceae* (**Table 2**).



Figure 3. Microbiota composition based on relative abundance: (A) Microbiota composition of day 2 chicken ceca; (B) Microbiota composition of day 4 chicken ceca

Group	Paenibacillaceae		Lachnospiraceae		Clostridiaceae		Enterobacteriaceae		Bacillaceae	
	Day 2	Day 4	Day 2	Day 4	Day 2	Day 4	Day 2	Day 4	Day 2	Day 4
T1	0.11 ^{a,b}	8.23ª	0	1.32 ^b	95.9ª	69.1ª	0.55ª	0.94 ^{a,c}	0.14 ^{a,c}	1.70ª
T2	0 ^{b,d}	3.02 ^{a,b}	0	0.14 ^b	23.5 ^b	23.8 ^b	73.6 ^b	58.9 ^b	0ь	0.02 ^b
T3	0.18 ^{a,c}	7.25 ^{a,b}	0.04	12.33 ^a	86.5 ^c	40.3 ^b	4.45 ^c	0.19 ^c	0.20 ^c	0.07 ^b
T4	0^{d}	1.98 ^b	0	1.25 ^b	25.0 ^b	34.3 ^b	68.1 ^b	48.5 ^b	0ь	0ь

Table 2. The top listed median relative abundance (by %) of observed families in the ceca of day 2 and 4 birds.

^{a,b,c,d}The differing superscripts indicate varying significant values ($P \le 0.001$)

3.3.3. Beta diversity index of cecal composition

Unifrac was utilized to compare similarities between bacterial communities in the cecal samples across independent time points (day 2 and day 4). Weighted UniFrac plots showed better separation on day 2 than day 4 where more clustering occurred (**Figures 4a-f**). There were large differences in the weighted UniFrac, but not in the unweighted UniFrac (data not shown) between groups. The ANOSIM of the weighted Unifrac across different ages within each treatment group (**Table 3**) displays large quantitative differences between T2 and control on day 2 and T4 and control on day 2. However, the differences between T2 and control (R = 0.62, $p \le 0.001$) and T4 (R =0.59, $p \le 0.001$) and control are not as similar by day 4. Overall, there appears to be less diversity when bacitracin is incorporated into the treatments, as seen in comparing T1 vs T3 in the ANOSIM analysis.

Age	Comparison	R1	Probability ²
Day 2	T1 vs T2	0.96	0.001
	T1 vs T3	0.1	0.002
	T1 vs T4	0.98	0.001
Day 4	T1 vs T2	0.62	0.001
	T1 vs T3	0.15	0.002
	T1 vs T4	0.59	0.001

Table 3. ANOSIM analysis of weigh	ted Unifrac on	different day	comparisons
within each treatment groups			

¹R is the similarity of comparison: 0 means equally similar, 1 means completely dissimilar.

²Significant differences are set at $p \le 0.001$. Significant differences between treatments are bolded.



Figure 4. PCoA charts using Unifrac for day 2 and day 4 comparison of treatments (a) d2 T1 vs T2, (b) d2 T1 vs T3, (c) d2 T1 vs T4, (d) d4 T1 vs T2, (e) d4 T1 vs T3, (f) d4 T1 vs T4



Figure 4 (continued).

3.4. Discussion

As sites of persistent colonization of bacteria, the avian ceca are important sites to study and better understand how the poultry GI tract microbiome interacts with pathogens. Generally, taxonomic diversity increases as the bird ages, enriched mainly with bacteria in the phylum Firmicutes (24). Immediately after hatch, the chicks are exposed to numerous environmental factors that activate their immune system, leading to low-grade inflammation by increased cytokine and chemokine expression (2). Previous studies have already observed bacterial families in the ceca, including as shown in our results *Clostridiaceae*, *Enterococcaceae*, *Streptococcaceae* (111). Our results highlight some key bacterial alterations between the gut bacterial communities and immune function in the crucial first days post-hatch.

Infections with *Salmonella* Enteritidis and antibiotics affected the overall bacterial composition in the ceca, which has also been shown in previous studies with mammalian models as well (25). However, bacitracin did not have much effect on *Salmonella* Enteritidis in this present study, as also seen in the study by Gadde et al. (10) and Mon et al. (5). In fact, it is speculated that AGPs may eliminate some members of *Enterobacteriaceae* but this allows for opportunistic bacteria to proliferate as a result (5). In this study, it appears the addition of bacitracin in the challenge model (T4) modulates the immune system to where the host response was evoked towards the bacitracin and *Salmonella* rather than just the presence of the pathogen. This may explain the mRNA expression data where the IL-1 β and IL-6 response in day 2 was inhibited due to the high upregulation of these two cytokines. In previous studies from our group (3,29), the

phenomenon of phenotypic switch occurs between days 2 and 4 in *Salmonella* challenged chicks, going from pro-inflammatory response to an anti-inflammatory, *Salmonella* tolerance response. Infected hosts undergo phenotypic shifts in tissue metabolism, metabolic sensors such as mTOR and AMPK, and immune cell functions (61). The *Salmonella* challenged treatment (T2) follows the previously documented studies: IL-6 and IL-1 β are highly upregulated on day 2 and dramatically reduced by day 4 post-infection (61). Therefore, it can be speculated that bacitracin is preventing an overstimulation in the earlier stage, thus allowing the immune system to react later to avoid the tolerance state and to help the immune system to eliminate the bacteria. The strong proinflammatory response, as shown in our mRNA expression data (**Figure 1** and **2**), is stimulated from the host microbiome, not just as a response to the *S*. Enteritidis presence.

According to the UniFrac results, the overall data demonstrated species disappearing or showing up, but with large differences in abundances of those that were already present. As seen in **Figure 4a-f** and **Table 3**, there were notable quantitative differences between T2 and control on day 2 and T4 and control on day 2. However, the differences between T2 and control and T4 and control are not as similar by day 4. Based on the data, there appears to be less diversity when bacitracin is incorporated into the treatments. Juricova et al. (4) concluded that infection with *S*. Enteritidis caused delays in the microbiota development of young chicks, which could explain the phenomena occurring with our results. Interesting, there were differences seen in T2 and T4 compared to the control, but not much between T3 and control. This interaction could also affect the

immune system of the host, adding another layer of variability that has not been well classified in broilers. Oakley and Kogut (24) concluded that Proteobacteria, which includes *Salmonella* spp. had strong correlations to IL-6 pro-inflammatory response. We also observed increased IL-10 expression which can be attributed to the gut modulation via bacitracin and young age of the birds (112). However, the presence of these pro-inflammatory cytokines could also be due to temporal changes in the chicks' unstable gut microbiome (24).

While increased inflammation may affect the animal's performance level, appetite and muscle catabolism, the shifting gut microbiota of young broilers would adjust for the imbalance and lead to less inflammation and energy expenditure for the animal (13,31). The presence of these signaling molecules are important for the epithelial cells at the site of infection and stimulation of macrophages to produce nitric oxide radicals (32). In fact, recent work has demonstrated that antagonists (such as the BMD in this case) allow pathogenic Enterobacteriaceae members including Salmonella spp. to upregulate the expression of antimicrobial proteins to survive (33). Thus, this disruption of the microbiota increases the pathogen's drive to survive by changing the state of inflammatory response. Furthermore, the presence of Enterobacteriaceae has been shown to influence the amount of metabolites expressed in the GIT, especially with short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (30). SCFAs are important for energy production for epithelial cells and immune cells including T cells and macrophages (34). T3 (bacitracin only) did not seem to produce any statistically significant fold changes when compared to the control across both days. This may be due to the subtherapeutic levels provided, in which previous studies (113,114) also did not see significant changes in the cecal community structure but did see changes in the community structure overall. We also observed high frequency of *Enterobacteriaceae*, which *Salmonella enterica* is a part of, on both days in *Salmonella* infected birds treated with subtherapeutic bacitracin (T4). This could be due to bacitracin's inhibitory action primarily against Gram-positive bacteria even though it is a broad-spectrum antibiotic. Similarly seen in a study by Kumar et al. (115), this may be occurring due to *Salmonella* outcompeting the resident microflora for nutrients which allows *Enterobacteriaceae* to flourish in the ceca.

The family *Clostridiaceae*, including *Clostridium perfringens*, is of interest in both humans and chickens. On both days tested, the family *Clostridiaceae* persisted, although in varying percentages, since it is generally part of the resident microbiota of the gut (26). In chickens, pathogenic *C. perfringens* causes necrotic enteritis and are usually prevented by AGPs such as bacitracin (26). A previous study by Ballou et al. (116) reports increased cecal diversity of bacterial communities, mainly within the order *Clostridiales*, in which our present study confirms. The high frequency of members of the order *Clostridiales* in the ceca have also been linked to improved growth performance in chickens which is an important factor for the broiler industry to consider (37,117). This family is also closely linked to T_{reg} cells, specifically its ability to increase the frequency of T_{reg} cells (118). The increased presence of T_{reg} cells of *S*. Entertitidis challenged birds had greater expression of IL-10 mRNA than non-infected controls which can also be seen in the present study (T2 and T4) for both time points (120).

Although there was a very low abundance present for *Enterococcaceae* (not shown) in our present study, the high abundance of Enterococcaceae and Enterobacteriaceae has been linked with dysbiosis due to the involvement of 4-guanidinobutyric acid production (121). Another minor present bacterial family was *Lachnospiraceae*, identified as poultry probiotic bacteria, which appears to remain low in abundance until the chickens are much older in age, but this family of bacteria was one of the most modulated members of the cecal community when bacitracin was provided (Figure 3a-b) (37,117). Depending on the genera, this family has been widely associated for the ability to produce beneficial metabolites specifically SCFAs, influence dietary digestion, and involved in metabolic disease regulation for mammalian hosts as well (122). This family has been found in mucosal folds of the GI tract, suggesting their interaction with the lamina propria immune cells make Lachnospiraceae an immune regulator to prevent pathogen colonization (123). Furthermore, studies have documented an overall reduction of probiotic-related bacteria in the intestinal tract of chickens with the usage of AGPs (37,124,125). Addition of an SCFA like butyrate has demonstrated to reduce invasion abilities and colonization abilities of Salmonella in the host (5,126). Interestingly, the effects of SCFAs tend to produce antiinflammatory effects on host immunity(35). This study has observed upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines although this could be attributed to the unstable microbiota at young age or interactions with other metabolites.

Overall, our results demonstrate the effects of bacitracin on cecal composition and its interaction with *S*. Enteritidis in young chicks. There is a phenotype change in the ceca due to the shifting microbiota from including bacitracin: the phenotypic reprogramming has been altered by adding bacitracin. The decrease in

Enterobacteriaceae and Clostridiaceae and the increase of Lachnospiraceae indicate the definitive phenotypic change. It has been previously reported that the immunometabolic reprogramming in the cecal tissue occurred during infection with S. enterica (3,29). The current study validates this phenotype switch event while also providing initial evidence of a delayed phenotype switch in birds provided subtherapeutic bacitracin while infected with S. Enteritidis. While the study looked at a short time frame, the study demonstrated that the shift in microbiota can affect the immune reaction, resulting in the altering downstream energy requirements of the host (31). These results provide insight of the phenotype changes occurring with the cecal bacterial population and its indirect influence on the immune system. It also provides further useful information on what types of beneficial effects that future ATAs should provide for the host at a baseline health and growth promotor level. It is possible that strong correlations were not observed due to the short tested age range and the rapidly changing microbiome is affected more by age than treatment, as also seen by Ballou et al. (116) and Danzeisen et al. (124). Future studies should look at a longer study duration and other segments of the GIT for a wider overview of bacterial communities.

CHAPTER 4: "SUPPLEMENTING CHESTNUT TANNINS IN THE BROILER DIET MEDIATES A METABOLIC PHENOTYPE OF THE CECA"*

4.1. Introduction

By moving away from antibiotics in livestock production, there is a growing interest from the poultry industry to find plant-based alternatives to replace antibiotics in feed. There has been increased interest in utilizing plant-based compounds or phytobiotics as antibiotic growth promoter (AGP) alternatives, including chestnut tannins (Castanea sativa) (37,80). Plant-based tannins can be categorized into two major groups: condensed tannins or hydrolyzable tannins (127). Tannins can be found in many plant species, mostly in the inedible portions of the plant such as the bark or wood (17,86). Due to enhanced research, the previous knowledge that tannins possess antinutritional effects in livestock species is outdated and the benefits vary on poultry species and dosages in feed (87). The bioactive compounds, polyphenols, found in tannins allow them to be effective immunomodulatory additives that promotes human and animal health (17). While the mechanism of action is still not widely understood, the benefits of phytobiotics in livestock animals include antioxidation properties, stabilization of intestinal microbiome, and improvement of immune system through immunomodulatory effects (21). Extensive studies done in swine exhibit strong

^{*}Reprinted with permission from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca" by Lee A, Dal Pont GC, Farnell MB, Jarvis S, Battaglia M, Arsenault RJ, Kogut MH, 2020. *Poult Sci.* Copyright 2020 by Annah Lee

evidence of phytobiotics as likely alternatives to antibiotics to improve growth performance and health (20,82,83). Ruminant producers have increased interest in growth promoters because of the efficient utilization of energy during rumen fermentation (84). The usage of tannins in the ruminant industry has been of major interest because of the tannins' ability to play a role in rumen protein utilization to improve feed efficiency (128).

Previous studies evaluated the functionality of different tannin species against pathogenic infections across livestock species, showing anti-microbial activity in concentrations ranging between 0.5-1 kg/ton (19,21,83). Importantly, tannins in general have also been shown to improve feed efficiency, growth performance, and intestinal health, as seen when up to 0.2% chestnut tannins (ChT) are added into feed (23,129). However, inclusions of 2% ChT in other avian studies did not improve growth performance and affected palatability. Based on the studies conducted, the usage of tannins in production have shown potential to be efficient as growth promoter alternatives, given the quality and concentration provided (23).

While the previously mentioned studies provide information about microbiological, immunological, and performance data (19,21,93), there is a lack of knowledge about the mechanism of the host metabolic interactions in the intestine, specifically the metabolic reaction to dietary ChT. Tannins exert pro-inflammatory immune responses but for a short-lived period and the anti-inflammatory responses follow soon after (22). Tannins can also exert a synergistic effect with AGP alternatives to promote gut health (23). Currently, there are proposed mechanisms for immunomodulatory activity based on different types of feed additives (91,130). While gene expression provides important information regarding pathogen interaction, there are disadvantages to genetic approaches including its inability to accurately predict the cellular phenotypes (3).

Studying phosphorylation events provides information on the mechanism of posttranslational modification, which offers insight in cellular and tissue phenotypes (68,69). Peptide arrays for kinomic analysis have already been widely utilized across scientific disciplines (69–71). The kinome array provides functional phenotype data, indicating changes within tissue metabolism and immune response to an infection (29). By understanding the kinase activity, there are increased insights into identifying specific biomarkers to provide future therapeutic targets (69). Recent advancements have provided a species-specific peptide array for livestock species, including poultry (69,74). This integrated array demonstrates the importance of combined immunity and metabolic data on the animal's overall health and growth performance (74).

Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the metabolic phenotype changes affected by ChT in the ceca. By using gene expression and kinome array, we were able to identify global metabolic phosphorylation-based events in the ceca of birds fed ChT at high doses compared to birds fed regular starter diets.

54

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Experimental animals, housing, and treatments

All experiments conducted were in accordance with guidelines set by the United States Department of Agriculture Animal Care and Use Committee (USDA ACUC #2019001), which meets all federal requirements as defined in the Animal Welfare Act, and the Human Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. A total of 200 male day-of-hatch broiler chicks were obtained from a local commercial hatchery and assigned to two treatment groups with two separate experiments, totaling 50 chicks per pen: (1) control feed – normal starter feed (n=50) and (2) 1% ChT inclusion feed (n=50). The 1% ChT inclusion was determined to be most effective without compromising palatability for the birds. Chicks were randomly distributed into each group in pens with fresh pine shavings, water, and starter diet ad libitum. All treatments were fed a corn/soybeanbased crumble diet, and they differ in AGP or tannins inclusion. The diets were formulated to meet or exceed broilers requirements (Table 4). The hydrolyzable chestnut tannin additive (Silvateam s.p.a[©]., Buenos Aires, Argentina) contained 75% tannin content, supplemented with 94% dry matter, lignin and sugars. The experimental process lasted 10 days per replicate experiment. This study was repeated one more time for a total of two replicate experiments.

Ingredients	%
Corn	59.81
SBM 48%	33.84
Monocalcium phosphate 21	1.56
Soy oil	2.09
Choline chloride	0.10
Limestone	1.56
Salt	0.33
L-lysine HCL	0.19
DL-methionine	0.28
Vitamin premix	0.13
Mineral premix	0.05
L-Threonine	0.05
Calculated nutrients, %	99.99
Protein	22.00
Calcium	0.90
Available phosphorus	0.45
AMEn (Kcal/lb)	1,365.00
Digestible methionine	0.59
Digestible total sulfa amino acid	0.88
Digestible threonine	0.77
Digestible lysine	1.18
Choline	1,256.87
Sodium	0.16
Potassium	0.84
Chloride	0.20

Table 4. Calculated composition of starter diets. The total basal diet contained 1,365 kcal/lb.

4.2.2. Sample collection and processing

On each necropsy day, 10 birds/group were euthanized via cervical dislocation and necropsied on days 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 of each replicate experiment. Both ceca were removed, flushed with PBS, and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen in order to preserve the kinase enzymatic activity. The frozen tissues were moved into a -80°C storage freezer until further processing.

4.2.3. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR

The immune portion was quantitated by gene expression studies, specifically through a TaqMan based assay adapted from Eldaghayes et al. (108). Total RNA was extracted using a Qiagen RNeasy[®] Plus kit (Germantown, MD, USA) and evaluated with a NanoDropTM 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Ceca stored in RNALater were used for RNA isolation with the Qiagen Rneasy Plus Kit. The ceca were cut longitudinally to expose the lumen and any remaining fecal matter was gently removed with forceps as to not disturb the mucosal layer. For each group, there were 10 ceca processed per replicate experiment for qRT-PCR.

Cytokine mRNA expression levels were ascertained using RT-PCR with 28S as the reference gene. The RNAs were stored at -80°C until plate setup. The cytokines IL-1B, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and IFN- γ were quantified utilizing the Eldaghayes et al. method (108). Primer and probe sequences (**Table 5**) for amplification have been described previously by Kogut et al. (109) and Kaiser et al. (50). The plates were run in the Applied Biosystems ABI StepOne Plus PCR system (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) with the previously stated TaqMan Assay under the following conditions: one cycle of 48°C for 30 min, 95°C for 20 s, and 40 cycles of 95°C for 3 s and 60°C for 30 s. Results were calculated with the corrected 40- Ct method, as described in Eldaghayes et al. (108) and expressed in fold change values. Each sample was run in

triplicate for technical replication.

RNA target		Probe/primer sequence	Exon boundary	Accession no.
28S	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-AGGACCGCTACGGACCTCCACCA-(TAMRA)-3' 5'-GGCGAAGCCAGAGGAAACT-3' 5'-GACGACCGATTGCACGTC-3'		X59733
IL-1β	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-CCACACTGCAGCTGGAGGAAGCC-(TAMRA)-3' 5'-GCTCTACATGTCGTGTGTGATGAG-3' 5'-TGTCGATGTCCCGCATGA-3'	5/6	AJ245728
IL-6	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-AGGAGAAATGCCTGACGAAGCTCTCCA-(TAMRA)-3' 5'-GCTCGCCGGCTTCGA-3' 5'-GGTAGGTCTGAAAGGCGAACAG-3'	3/4	AJ250838
IL-8	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-CTTTACCAGCGCGTCCTACCTTGCGACA-(TAMRA)-3 5'-GCCCTCCTCGGTTTCAG-3' 5'-TGGCACCGCCAGCTCATT-3'	' 1/2	AJ009800
IL-10	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-CGACGATGCGGCGCTGTCA-(TAMRA)-3' 5'-CATGCTGCTGGGCCTGAA-3' 5'-CGTCTCCTTGATCTGCTTGATG-3'	3/4	AJ621614
IFN-γ	Probe F R	5'-(FAM)-TGGCCAAGCTCCCGATGAACGA-(TAMRA)-3' 5'-GTGAAGAAGGTGAAAGATATATCATGGA-3' 5'-GCTTTGCGCTGGATTCTCA-3'	3/4	Y07922

Table 5. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR primer and probe sequencesReprinted from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolicphenotype of the ceca"

4.2.4. Statistical analysis for qRT-PCR

Cytokine mRNA expression for control and treated ceca from days 2, 4, 6, 8, and

10 were quantitated using a method described by Kaiser et al. (50) and Moody et al.

(110). The 40-Ct values were calculated for each sample with averaged triplicates per

sample. Statistical analysis was performed with SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA) based on the

data collected from each trial for the qRT-PCR data. Each time frame had samples comparing 1% ChT-treated birds versus control-fed birds. The Shapiro-Wilks test for normality was used to determine if the fold change within each group was parametric or non-parametric, with an alpha of 0.05. For all analyses, statistical significance was considered if $P \le 0.05$.

All data were found to be non-parametric and were summarized as median values. An ad-hoc analysis using the Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted to determine where the statistical differences lie between the control and 1% ChT. The ceca samples for the IL-1B, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and IFN- γ were quantified using the 40-Ct method, as outlined by Eldaghayes et al. (108). The results were reported in fold change values.

4.2.5. Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array

For the phenotype readout, a peptide array was utilized to provide tissue immunometabolism information from the host. At three of the time points (days 4, 6 and 10), three whole ceca from three randomly selected birds – stored in -80°C – were defrosted for analysis (27 samples total for all three days). Each sample was weighed to obtain a consistent 40 mg sample for the array. The samples were homogenized by the Omni International Bead Ruptor Elite (Kennesaw, GA, USA) in 100 uL of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl,1 mM EDTA, 1 mM ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), 1% Triton X-100, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM Na3VO4, 1 mM NaF, 1 µg/mL leupeptin, 1 g/mL aprotinin and 1 mM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride). All products were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St.
Louis, MO, USA), unless indicated. Following homogenization, the peptide array protocol was carried out as per Jalal et al. (72) with alterations described in Arsenault et al. (3). The resulting tissue lysates were applied onto the PepStar peptide microarrays customized by JPT Peptide Technologies GmbH (Berlin, Germany).

4.2.6. Data analysis: kinome array

Data normalization was performed for the kinome array, based on Li et al. (131) using the PIIKA2 online platform (http://saphire.usask.ca/saphire/piika/index.html), a tool designed for *in silico* analysis of phosphorylation sites (132). The array data were analyzed by conducting variance stabilization normalization, and then performing t-test, clustering and pathway analysis for statistical data. Gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analysis were performed by uploading the statistically significant peptide lists to the Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes (STRING) (133).

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR results

Across both replicate experiments, only IL-6 and IL-10 were found to have statistically significant increases in mRNA expression on days 2 and 6 across all days tested in the experiment. **Figure 5** shows_the mRNA expression levels of all tested days (days 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10) for IL-6. The results demonstrated that the expression levels of IL-6 were significantly increased following treatment with 1% ChT on day 2 and day 6 when compared to controls. There were no significant differences when compared to controls on days 4, 8 and 10. **Figure 6** shows the mRNA expression levels of all tested days (day 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10) for IL-10. The results also demonstrated that the expression levels of IL-10 were significantly increased following treatment with 1% ChT on day 2 and day 6. However, there were no significant differences when compared to controls on days 4, 8 and 10.





These data reflect the averaged replicate experiments (N=200). The asterisks denote significant differences between the control and 1% ChT group. Reprinted from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca"



Figure 6. The fold change values based on days tested of the mRNA expression assay for IL-10.

These data reflect the averaged replicate experiments (N=200). The asterisks denote significant differences between the control and 1% ChT group. Reprinted from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca"

4.3.2. Kinome results

Using STRING-db (133), the resulting analysis of the kinome data showed

distinct metabolic differences between the 1% ChT group compared to the control group.

Each day is representative of three birds normalized and combined into representative

datasets. The biological process (BP) terms generated from GO for each dataset include

sets of molecular events with a defined beginning and end that pertain to the functioning

of the integrated living units (134). Based on the false discovery rate (FDR) of the analysis, values $P \le 0.01$ were listed and considered statistically significant. The analysis of the kinome data showed distinct differences in the observed BP between 1% CT fed birds compared to the control birds. **Table 6** summarizes the top 15 GO STRING-generated biological pathways of metabolic processes and the number of differentially phosphorylated peptides associated with them. Day 6 samples have the greatest number of primary biological processes related to metabolic pathways out of the three days, indicated by the number of significant peptides. Day 4 had the most amount of fatty acid metabolic process present, but it decreased by day 6 and was not present by day 10.

Additionally, the top metabolic KEGG pathways (135) were obtained from the STRING-db, as summarized in **Table 7**, for 1% ChT-fed group compared to the control group. The pathways of interest were those that showed significant changes at multiple time points. Day 6 samples have the greatest number of altered immune and metabolic pathways out of the three days, indicated by the number of peptides and number of pathways shown in the tables. By day 10, the number of peptides is decreased, as well as the number of pathways.

Biological Processes	Day 4	Day 6	Day 10
phosphate-containing compound	100	132	79
metabolic process			
primary metabolic process	145	187	122
protein metabolic process	99	136	83
cellular metabolic process	142	184	125
fatty acid metabolic process	90	19	-
glucose metabolic process	11	14	9
glycerolipid metabolic process	18	28	16
cellular lipid metabolic process	37	48	24
glycogen metabolic process	8	9	6
ATP metabolic process	13	11	10
lipid metabolic process	38	50	26
carbohydrate metabolic process	21	25	18
hexose metabolic process	13	15	-
NAD metabolic process	8	11	8
pyruvate metabolic process	10	11	9

Table 6. The top 15 GO metabolic BP identified at days 4, 6, and 10 comparing 1% ChT-fed birds against control birds.

The hyphens indicate non-significant BPs based on the FDR. Reprinted from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca"

Metabolic Pathways

	Day 4	4 Day 6		Day 10		
	Number of	_	Number of	<u>.</u>	Number of	_
Identified pathways	peptides	p-value	peptides	p-value	peptides	p-value
PI3K-Akt signaling		22		20		10
pathway	34	1.15 x 10 ⁻²²	44	4.28 x 10 ⁻²⁹	24	1.11 x 10 ⁻¹³
MAPK signaling pathway	30	1.75 x 10 ⁻²⁰	49	2.32 x 10 ⁻³⁷	22	2.44 x 10 ⁻¹³
Metabolic pathway	28	1.39 x 10 ⁻⁰⁵	32	4.67 x 10 ⁻⁰⁵	-	-
Insulin signaling pathway	27	5.29 x 10 ⁻²⁵	27	1.30 x 10 ⁻²²	20	7.77 x 10 ⁻¹⁷
AMPK signaling pathway	21	1.19 x 10 ⁻¹⁸	20	7.95 x 10 ⁻¹⁶	16	3.16 x 10 ⁻¹³
HIF-1 signaling pathway	18	1.82 x 10 ⁻¹⁶	18	5.60 x 10 ⁻¹⁵	12	6.91 x 10 ⁻¹⁰
mTOR signaling pathway	18	6.72 x 10 ⁻¹⁴	18	2.23 x 10 ⁻¹²	18	5.53 x 10 ⁻¹⁴
cAMP signaling pathway	17	2.85 x 10 ⁻¹¹	13	1.79 x 10 ⁻⁰⁶	-	-
Glucagon signaling						
pathway	14	8.32 x 10 ⁻¹²	15	1.22 x 10 ⁻¹¹	11	9.36 x 10 ⁻⁰⁹
VEGF signaling pathway	12	7.40 x 10 ⁻¹²	17	7.06 x 10 ⁻¹⁷	-	-
Calcium signaling pathway	11	2.42 x 10 ⁻⁰⁶	10	0.00012	-	-
Glycolysis/Gluconeogenesis	10	5.39 x 10 ⁻⁰⁹	10	4.75 x 10 ⁻⁰⁸	-	-
GnRH signaling pathway	10	4.43 x 10 ⁻⁰⁸	14	3.03 x 10 ⁻¹¹	-	-
Adipocytokine signaling pathway	-	-	18	3.60 x 10 ⁻¹⁷	-	-

Table 7. Summarized table of KEGG metabolic pathways at days 4, 6, and 10 comparing 1% ChT-fed birds and control birds.

The hyphens indicate non-significant BPs based on the p-value. Reprinted from "Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca"

4.4. Discussion

The current study objective was to provide metabolic information on the effects

of ChT when incorporated into the broiler feed. Tannins are already known to improve

livestock health and growth performance, but the mechanism is still widely unknown

(21). To date, these results are the first of its kind to provide mechanistic information on how host intestine responds to tannins inclusion in the feed. These observed metabolic changes may be related with the improved performance in broilers fed tannins. With the qRT-PCR and kinome data, we were able to provide global post-translational perspectives on how intestine metabolic function is correlated in a tannins-fed diet.

Based on the qRT-PCR data, the cytokines of interest based on our results are the elevated expressions of IL-6 and IL-10 by day 6. As seen in Figure 5, the only notable fold changes (values over 2.0) are seen on day 2 and 6 with the 1% ChT group. This shows a significant upregulation of IL-6 and calls for speculation on its role when 1% ChTs are included in the feed. A previous experiment by Ferro et al. (136) concludes that IL-6 may need to work in tandem with other immunomodulatory cytokines (such as IL-1 family cytokines) to stimulate immune responses. In fact, McGeachy et al. (137) discovered that IL-10 is upregulated by IL-6, revealing a dependent relationship between the two cytokines during an immune response. As shown in **Figure 6**, there was significant upregulation of IL-10 only on day 6 in the 1% ChT group, paralleling the IL-6 upregulation trend. This supports what was found in the previously mentioned studies, providing evidence of the IL-10 immunoregulatory properties. As the gene expression results show, the elevated IL-6 upregulation may be the peak time of modulation in the bird (day 6), with IL-10 regulating this pro-inflammatory response. What is important to note is the temporary peak of IL-6 expression: by day 10, the high level of expression is no longer present. This is beneficial for the birds because the chestnut tannins stimulate a response to prime the birds' immunity. While IL-6 is known to have pro- and antiinflammatory properties based on the stimulus (136), long-lasting IL-6 presence may contribute to chronic inflammation and tissue damage, which is undesirable for the birds and producers (138). There is also strong evidence of IL-6 involved in metabolic function, rather than just immune response. Flint et al. (139) found that IL-6 induction stimulated a metabolic reprogramming which directly induced an immune suppression in mice. They predicted that this metabolic pathway of IL-6 helps prevent immunological damage due to inflammation. Reviews by Pavlov and Tracey (140) and Ghanemi and St Amand (141) outline further proof of IL-6 and its direct linkage to metabolic pathways, especially affecting insulin pathways and fatty acid synthesis. These reviews discuss how IL-6 should be considered beyond its immunological function due to its effects on lipids, protein, and glucose metabolism.

The current study is the first to demonstrate metabolic importance associated with ChTs, as indicated by the number of post-translational modifications and significant p-values. Based on its known antimicrobial effects, ChTs and other phytobiotics make ideal candidates for growth promotion and health improvements based its ability to retain bacterial diversity in the gut but reducing drug-resistant bacteria (142). Chestnut tannins have already been known to affect bifidobacteria in the ceca of mammals and chickens (37), which have been shown to alter carbohydrate metabolism and other metabolic processes downstream in the host by modifying enzymes and sugar transport pathways (143). This research supports this through the direct alteration of the carbohydrate and primary metabolic pathways (**Table 6**). The main difference in bacterial taxa between control and tannins-fed birds was the increase in bacterial

67

diversity over time within the tannins-fed group, especially with *Lactobacillus* and *Enterococcus* species (37). These bacterial species utilize sugar metabolism (such as hexose and glucose metabolism) and carbohydrate metabolism which supports our findings in our tannins-fed group (144). Another study found older birds treated with tannins consistently had increased populations of order Clostridiales and family Ruminococcaceae, which have been of interest in the poultry industry as potential probiotic options (37). This is noteworthy evidence of how tannins-fed chickens could have increased members of the family Ruminococcaceae to alter the SCFAs profile in the cecum towards butyrate production. The increased presence of these butyrate-producing communities would indicate the usage of carbohydrate metabolism, fatty acid metabolism, glycerolipid metabolism downstream to ultimately benefit host physiology (144,145).

An interesting note by Diaz Carrasco et al. (37) was the sensitivity effect that dietary tannins had on Gram-positive bacteria, as also noted in rat studies with increased Gram-negative bacteria in the GI tract (146). Molino et al. (147) have shown preliminary data on the importance of tannins in gut microbial fermentation and the nutritional importance in human application. This study provides additional new information on affected pathways in the intestine with the introduction of ChTs in early broiler growth. Although the microbiota of young birds are more prone to fluctuating gut microbial communities, these results support the relevance of chestnut tannins in the feed to not only promote growth but to also provide more evidence as an alternative to antibiotics. Future studies will look at growth promotion effects in depth by investigating the individual pathways that were altered with the introduction of ChT in the feed. Another future study will also test the other treatment groups (0.2%, 0.08% and 0.03% ChT inclusion groups) for metabolic differences.

Therefore, with the current trend of removing antibiotics in feed, tannins are one of the promising feed additives due to its ability to stimulate immunoregulatory effects and host modulation to prevent resistance, which is ideal as an alternative to antibiotics. This aims to reduce the immune response while redirecting energy towards growth (74). Ideal alternatives would promote health without risking loss of growth promotion or antibiotic resistance (21). Chestnut tannins have already shown applicable results in reducing incidence of necrotic enteritis and Salmonella in livestock, although the effects on growth improvements varied based on dosages (19,37,148). The results from this current study are providing further proof to what is currently in the literature of ChTs as a potential alternative to antibiotics. The strong metabolic connection found in our study shows the promising nature of utilizing ChTs as an antibiotic alternative because there would be promotion of growth on top of promotion of health. Previous studies have already observed the host-pathogen interactions of chickens using the kinome array (58,76,149), which shows the importance of viewing immunity and metabolism comprehensively instead of as individual units. With the increasing population, there will be a growing demand for poultry products especially cost-effective feed additives (21). Therefore, identifying an alternative to AGPs will be crucial in the future to keep up with increased demands for safe poultry products. Tannins might be a promising

alternative to AGPs due to the improvements in performance and microbiota, as seen in previous studies, and the current data support its metabolic modulation in the intestine.

In conclusion, it was observed that the influence of ChT in the diet alters gut immunometabolism of broilers. By focusing on the ChT-fed group compared to the control group, the results from these two separate trials demonstrated the metabolic outcome of when ChTs are introduced into the diet. These are the first data in the literature demonstrating pathway data that supports growth and health promotion with ChT. The objective of this study was to provide a global overview of chestnut tannins' effect on the metabolism, providing mechanism information that is currently lacking in the literature. These data offer ChT not only as an immunoregulator but also a potential host-directed therapy option in disease studies. Phytobiotics can offer promising results since they can target metabolic and immunological pathways of the host and may affect the pathogen. With the growing restriction of antibiotics in the feed, this study offers further evidence of ChT as an important alternative to antibiotics.

CHAPTER 5: ROLE OF JAK-STAT PATHWAY IN CHICKS FED WITH CHESTNUT TANNINS

5.1. Introduction

Antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) were originally incorporated into livestock feed to promote better health and performance. However, with the ban of antibiotics in feed, there is a need for alternatives to antibiotics that will stimulate similar outcomes of AGPs. There has been increased interest in utilizing plant-based compounds or phytobiotics as antibiotic growth promoter alternatives, including chestnut tannins (ChT - Castanea sativa) (80,150). Phytogenic compounds are viable candidates to replace AGPs due to bioactive properties that emulate similar properties of antibiotics without fear of antimicrobial resistance (37). Plant-based tannins can be categorized into two major groups: condensed tannins or hydrolyzable tannins (127). Tannins can be found in many plant species, mostly in the inedible portions of the plant such as the bark or wood (17,86). This popular alternative to antibiotic (ATA) is already widely utilized on commercial farms for its overall health benefit and improved performance although the mechanism of how it works is still not fully understood. Host gut immunity are better protected from pathogens via increased villus height:crypt depth ratio, improved intestinal mucosa to prevent tissue damage, affected production of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, and enhanced expression of tight junction proteins to modulate the immune system (37, 151-153).

71

Studying phosphorylation events provides information on the mechanism of posttranslational modification, which offers insight in cellular and tissue phenotypes (68,69). The species-specific kinome array utilized for this study can measure the kinase activity on the tissue level, therefore, allowing the observation of post-translational modification and further insight on metabolic and immune function (72). Our previous manuscript analyzed the metabolic phosphorylation events when ChTs were included in the diet. Therefore, the objective of this study was to analyze the outcome of specific immune phosphorylation events when broiler chicks are fed a ChT inclusion diet at young age. We analyzed multiple timepoints of chicken-specific kinomic immune changes in avian cecal tissue of chicks fed 1% chestnut tannins. Using this technique, we were able to identify specific phosphorylation-based immune post-translational signaling changes.

5.2. Materials and Methods

5.2.1. Experimental animals, housing, and treatments

All experiments conducted were in accordance with guidelines set by the United States Department of Agriculture Animal Care and Use Committee (USDA ACUC #2019001), which meets all federal requirements as defined in the Animal Welfare Act, and the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. A total of 200 male day-of-hatch broiler chicks were obtained from a local commercial hatchery and assigned to two treatment groups, totaling 50 chicks per pen per experiment. The treatments were as follows: (1) control feed – normal starter feed (n=50) and (2) 1% ChT inclusion feed (n=50). Chicks were randomly distributed into each group in pens with fresh pine shavings, water, and

starter diet *ad libitum*. All treatments were fed a corn/soybean-based crumble diet, and they differ in AGP or tannins inclusion. The diets were formulated to meet or exceed broilers requirements. The hydrolyzable chestnut tannin additive (Silvateam s.p.a[©]., Buenos Aires, Argentina) contained 75% tannin content, supplemented with 94% dry matter, lignin and sugars. Each separate experimental process lasted 10 days.

5.2.2. Sample collection and processing

On each necropsy day, 10 birds/group were euthanized via cervical dislocation and necropsied on days 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 of each separate experiment. Both ceca were removed, flushed with PBS, and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen to preserve the kinase enzymatic activity. The frozen tissues were stored in -80°C until further processing. Ceca stored in RNALater were used for RNA isolation with the Qiagen Rneasy Plus Kit. The ceca were cut longitudinally to expose the lumen and any remaining fecal matter was gently removed with forceps.

5.2.3. Chicken-specific kinome (peptide) array

For the phenotype readout, a peptide array was utilized to provide tissue immunometabolism information from the host. At three of the time points (days 4, 6 and 10), three whole ceca from three randomly selected birds – stored in -80°C – were defrosted for analysis. Each distal end of the cecum was weighed to obtain a consistent 40 mg sample for the array. The samples were homogenized by the Omni International Bead Ruptor Elite (Kennesaw, GA, USA) in 100 uL of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl,1 mM EDTA, 1 mM ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), 1% Triton X-100, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM Na3VO4, 1 mM NaF, 1 µg/mL leupeptin, 1 g/mL aprotinin and 1 mM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride). All products were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), unless indicated. Following homogenization, the peptide array protocol was carried out with previously described alterations (72,154). The resulting tissue lysates were applied onto the PepStar peptide microarrays customized by JPT Peptide Technologies GmbH (Berlin, Germany).

5.2.4. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR assay

Total RNA was extracted using a Qiagen RNeasy[®] Plus kit (Germantown, MD, USA) and evaluated with a NanoDropTM 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). For each group, there were 10 ceca processed per experiment for qRT-PCR. Cytokine mRNA expression levels were ascertained using RT-PCR TaqMan based assay with 28S as the reference gene. The RNAs were stored at -80°C until plate setup. The cytokines IL-1B, IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, and IFN- γ were quantified utilizing a previously published method (108). Primer and probe sequences for amplification have been previously published and described (50,109). The plates were run in the Applied Biosystems ABI StepOne Plus PCR system (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) with the previously stated TaqMan Assay under the following conditions: one cycle of 48°C for 30 min, 95°C for 20 s, and 40 cycles of 95°C for 3 s and 60°C for 30 s. Results were calculated with the corrected 40- C_t method (108), and

expressed in fold change values. Each sample was run in triplicate for technical replication.

5.2.5. Data analysis: kinome array

Data normalization was performed for the kinome array using the PIIKA2 online platform (http://saphire.usask.ca/saphire/piika/index.html), a tool designed for *in silico* analysis of phosphorylation sites (131,132). The array data were analyzed by conducting variance stabilization normalization, and then performing t-test, clustering and pathway analysis for statistical data. Gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analysis were performed by uploading the statistically significant peptide lists to the Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes (STRING)(133). The pathways are filtered by the minimum required interaction score with high confidence (0.700), in which the thickness of the connection lines indicate the strength of the data support.

5.3. Results

As has been reported previously, broiler chicks fed 1% ChT in the diet had upregulated proinflammatory cytokine, specifically IL-6, mRNA expression in the ceca (155). **Figure 7a-b** depict each separate experimental mRNA expression fold change values across different days tested for the kinome array. The other tested proinflammatory cytokine results (IL-1 β , IL-8, IL-17, IFN- γ) can be found in **Figure 9a-c**. Out of the proinflammatory cytokines tested, only IL-6 was found to be statistically significant in fold change differences (more than 32-fold) on day 6 and day 10 in birds fed 1% ChT compared to the controls. On day 4, none of the cytokines tested was considered significant in fold change. By day 10, IL-6 still had a statistically significant 3-fold change compared to the control but not as elevated as it was on day 6.

For the kinome array, one of the major phosphorylated pathways affected by chestnut tannins identified was the JAK-STAT signaling pathway for all days tested. Figure 8a-c display the complete interaction network of unique proteins from the kinome array for days 4, 6, and 10. The clustered peptides indicate closely related connections. These figures also reveal the number of links between immune pathways (ones without links are not confidently linked as interactions according to STRING-db). For each day tested, the JAK-STAT pathway was listed as one of the top altered immune pathways. To further evaluate the phosphorylation events, the peptides involved directly or indirectly in the JAK-STAT pathways are listed in Table 8. JAK1 was significantly phosphorylated only on day 6 with no change in phosphorylation on days 4 and 10 (as indicated by the hyphen). JAK2 appeared to be a target for dephosphorylation, as seen by decreased phosphorylation at days 4 and 6 in 1% ChT fed chicks compared to the control. Another peptide of interest is the IL6ST peptide (Interleukin-6 receptor subunit beta) which was phosphorylated on days 4 and 10 but interestingly dephosphorylated on day 6. The array also identified STAT1, 3, and 5B activities: significantly increased STAT1 and STAT3 phosphorylation on all three time points, while STAT5B had significantly decreased phosphorylation on day 4 but increased phosphorylation on days 6 and 10. Therefore, the increased presence of JAK and STAT peptides indicate a

stimulation in increased IL-6 to stimulate JAK-STAT signaling pathway due to the inclusion of 1% ChT in the diet.

The other majorly affected immune pathways identified on the kinome array were T cell receptor signaling pathway and chemokine signaling pathway. The resulting phosphorylation events within these pathways are listed in **Tables 9 and 10**. For the chemokine signaling pathway, CCR2 is one of the starting peptides of the pathway. This peptide was only significantly increased in phosphorylation on day 4 but no changes seen on days 6 and 10. Overall, neither the T cell receptor nor the chemokine pathway showed significant activation by feeding 1% ChT to broilers (**Tables 9 and 10**).





The days displayed are in correlation to the days tested for the kinome array: (A) 1st experimental fold changes by age tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group; (B) 2nd experimental fold changes by age tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group. * = significantly different from the controls (p ≤ 0.05).

JAK-STAT Signaling Pathway							
	Days of Necropsy						
	4	6		10			
Peptides	Fold change	<i>p</i> -value	Fold change	<i>p</i> -value	Fold change	<i>p</i> -value	
AKT3	-1.046	< 0.01	-1.041	0.026	-1.023	0.034	
CCND1	-	-	1.071	0.015	-	-	
EGFR	-	-	1.032	0.041	-	-	
EP300	-	-	-	-	1.052	0.031	
GRB2	-	-	-1.063	0.02	1.044	0.017	
IL12B	-	-	-1.048	0.03	-	-	
IL6ST	1.058	0.026	-1.039	0.03	1.041	0.039	
JAK1	-	-	1.098	< 0.01	-	-	
JAK2	-1.059	0.027	-1.042	< 0.01	-	-	
MTOR	1.061	0.042	-1.058	0.01	-1.041	0.036	
PDGFRA	-	-	1.127	< 0.01	-1.064	< 0.01	
PDGFRB	-1.115	< 0.01	1.091	0.019	-1.061	0.046	
PIK3CB	1.086	< 0.01	-	-	-1.049	0.022	
PIK3R1	1.058	0.028	-1.025	0.045	-1.076	< 0.01	
PIK3R2	1.052	0.038	-1.039	0.04	-	-	
PIM1	-	-	-1.046	< 0.01	-1.043	0.036	
RAF1	1.053	0.03	-1.048	0.048	-	-	
SOCS3	-1.069	< 0.01	-1.052	< 0.01	-	-	
SOS1	-	-	-	-	1.036	0.029	
STAM2	-	-	-	-	-1.057	0.017	
STAT1	1.057	0.048	1.060	0.033	1.034	0.034	
STAT3	1.067	0.015	1.078	0.031	1.046	0.044	
STAT5B	-1.071	< 0.01	1.061	< 0.01	1.087	< 0.01	

Table 8. Peptides from the JAK-STAT signaling pathway that displayedstatistically significant change in phosphorylation.

Positive values indicate phosphorylation events; negative values indicate dephosphorylation events. Only peptides that displayed a p-value of less than 0.05 are shown.

	Chemokine signaling pat	hway		
Peptide	Day 4	Day 6	Day 10	
AKT3	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	
ARRB1	\downarrow	\downarrow	-	
ARRB2	-	\downarrow	-	
СНИК	-	↑	-	
CRK	-	-	1	
CRKL	\downarrow	-	-	
CRR2	↑	-	-	
GRB2	-	\downarrow	1	
GRK5	\downarrow	\downarrow	-	
GSK3A	\downarrow	1	\downarrow	
GSK3B	\downarrow	↑	1	
JAK2	\downarrow	\downarrow	-	
LYN	-	↑	-	
MAP2K1	Ť	-	-	
NFKB1	-	↑	-	
NFKBIA	-	↑	\downarrow	
PAK1	\downarrow	-	-	
PIK3R1	↑	\downarrow	\downarrow	
PIK3R2	↑	\downarrow	-	
PRKCD	\downarrow	\downarrow	-	
РТК2	↑	↑	\downarrow	
РТК2В	Ť	1	1	
PXN	\downarrow	↑	\downarrow	
RAF1	Ť	\downarrow	-	
SHC1	-	↑	-	
SHC3	-	1	-	
SRC	-	\downarrow	↑	
STAT1	Ť	1	↑	
STAT3	Ť	1	↑	
STAT5B	.l.	↑	↑	

↑ = significantly ($P \le 0.05$) phosphorylated from non-infected control; \downarrow = significantly ($P \le 0.05$) dephosphorylated from non-infected control; \downarrow = significantly ($P \le 0.05$) dephosphorylated from non-infected control.

Table 9. Chemokine signaling pathway in chicken ceca on days 4, 6, and 10 of age.

T cell receptor signaling pathway					
Peptide	Day 4	Day 6	Day 10		
АКТЗ	Ļ	\downarrow	Ļ		
СНИК	-	\downarrow	-		
FOS	-	ſ	-		
FYN	\downarrow	\downarrow	-		
GRB2	-	\downarrow	↑		
GSK3B	\downarrow	↑	↑		
JUN	\downarrow	\downarrow	-		
LCK	-	↑	-		
MAP2K1	1	-	-		
MAP2K2	-	\downarrow	↑		
MAP3K7	\downarrow	↑	↑		
NFATC1	1	-	-		
NFATC2	-	\downarrow	-		
NFATC3	1	\downarrow	↑		
NFKB1	-	ſ	-		
NFKBIA	-	↑	\downarrow		
PAK1/2	\downarrow	\downarrow	-		
PDPK1	\downarrow	\downarrow	-		
PIK3R1	1	\downarrow	\downarrow		
PIK3R2	1	\downarrow	\downarrow		
PTPRC	-	\downarrow	-		
RAF1	1	\downarrow	-		
ZAP70	-	\downarrow	\downarrow		

 \uparrow = significantly ($P \le 0.05$) phosphorylated from non-infected control; \downarrow = significantly ($P \le 0.05$) dephosphorylated from non-infected control; - = not significant from non-infected control.

Table 10. T cell receptor signaling pathway in chicken ceca on days 4, 6, and 10 of age.

5.4. Discussion

Demands for alternatives to antibiotics, such as ChTs, in livestock feed have

increased globally in the past several years. Growing research is showing the importance

of the gastrointestinal system and its role in host immune modulation(6,36,156). Current

reviews have already been published regarding the evidence of ChTs in improving

overall host health and immunity during pathogenic events but, there is relatively little known about the functional pathways that ChTs play in immunity in a non-infection model. One of the most altered peptide pathways from the present study is the JAK-STAT signaling pathway, which is a crucial pathway for growth, energy, immunity, and overall development of the animal. This pathway is also important for its connection to IL-6 regulation, which was heavily upregulated on day 6 of the mRNA expression array (**Figure 7a-b**). **Figure 8a-c** display the complete interaction network of unique proteins from the kinome array for days 4, 6, and 10. This network reveals the strong patterns towards immune connections, especially with the JAK-STAT signaling pathway (affiliated peptides indicated in the purple circles on each time point). Based on our findings, the kinomic analysis demonstrates the importance of a phytobiotic incorporation in feed, providing further evidence of its potential as a key ATA. These results can also provide useful information regarding how the JAK-STAT pathway gets modified with the inclusion of phytobiotics in livestock diet.



Figure 8. mRNA expression of cecal mRNA from experimental chicks fed 1% ChT inclusion diet, determined by quantitative RT-PCR.

(A) Day 4 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group; (B) Day 6 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group; (C) Day 10 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group. Data represent the median values from two separate experiments. * = significantly different from the controls (p ≤ 0.05).



Figure 8 (continued).



Figure 8 (continued).



Figure 9. mRNA expression of cecal mRNA from experimental chicks fed 1% ChT inclusion diet, determined by quantitative RT-PCR.

(A) D4 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group; (B) D6 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group; (C) D10 fold changes by cytokines tested comparing averaged 1% ChT inclusion group with control group. Data represent the median values from two separate experiments. * = significantly different from the controls ($p \le 0.05$).

The JAK family proteins are the initial receptors present to initiate the JAK-STAT pathway. In the chicken, JAK1 expression is found in the bursa and thymus at high levels perhaps due to the post-translational modification activity of JAK1 kinase in these locations (157). A previous study discovered interactions between avian JAK1 and STAT1/3/5B affected different cytokine families, including IL-6 and IL-10, in the gut during a disease state in the birds (158). Another study in broiler chickens found upregulated JAK1 and STAT1,3,5B mRNA levels led to increased expressions of IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IL-10, IL-22, and IFN- α (159). The mRNA expression data revealed an upregulation of statistically significant fold change on days 6 and 10 while the other proinflammatory cytokines were not found to be statistically significant. This provides evidence of an IL-6 immune mediated proinflammatory response, as opposed to initiating T cell receptors or chemokine receptors. Although Table 10 shows that the T cell receptor signaling pathway and chemokine signaling pathway are the top two pathways with most altered peptides, this information only provides altered peptide numbers and not detailed phosphorylation or dephosphorylation events. The chemokine signaling pathway appeared to follow the CCR2-GNB network of signaling pathways; however, with the significantly increased phosphorylation in STAT1,3,5B peptides and significant phosphorylation presence of JAK2, this points to even greater evidence of the JAK-STAT pathway being turned on from the chemokine signaling pathway. As reflected by our mRNA expression results, chemokine CXCL-8/IL-8 did not show any significant fold change between the 1% ChT group and the control group. The T cell

receptor pathway showed less clear pathway information, even though it was the immune pathway with the most altered peptides. However, this pathway is an important precursor pathway that promotes signaling cascades for other immune pathways, including PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, MAPK signaling pathway, and NF- $\kappa\beta$ signaling pathway (160). As shown in **Table 8**, the direct peptides involved in the pathway do not indicate a clear T cell function, which may be the reason why our IL-1 family cytokines did not show significant fold changes.

The kinome data provides further evidence in this trend with the dephosphorylation events within the T cell receptor signaling pathway and chemokine signaling pathway across all three days tested (Table 9 and 10). The kinomic data for day 6 seem to follow the IL-6 family of cytokine signaling for the JAK-STAT pathway: IL-6, which promotes growth and differentiation of different cell types, can activate the pathway by phosphorylating JAK1,2 and to then activate downstream signaling STAT family proteins, such as STAT1 and STAT3 (97,161). Interestingly, JAK-STAT signaling pathway was the only pathway that had IL6R out of the 13 signal pathways involved in avian embryonic stem cell differentiation (97). A previous in vivo experiment suggests that IL-6 can regulate the JAK-STAT pathway by decreasing JAK2 and increasing levels of STAT3(159,161), which is supported by our results. Our in vivo kinomic results (Table 2) observed phosphorylation of IL6ST on days 4 and 10, apart from dephosphorylation observed on day 6. This dephosphorylation may be due to the host immune system attempting to regulate the strong pro-inflammatory response via the IL-6 mediated pathway. Notably, SOCS3, the primary inhibitor of IL-6 signaling, is

present on days 4 and 6 in our data. The negative values as seen in this present study associated with the SOCS protein would indicate less presence of negative regulation of the JAK-STAT pathway (138,162,163). This would potentially explain the negative values associated with the JAK2 and IL6ST on days 4 and 6, respectively.

This study aimed to provide phosphorylation details regarding the broiler chick immune response when ChTs are included into the grower diet. The ChTs appear to be acting as immunomodulators due to the high upregulation of IL-6 proinflammatory cytokine. For practical application purposes, recent studies have suggested the usage of encouraging proinflammatory states for beneficial purposes of stimulating the immune system at early stages to improve resistance against pathogens (156). As a key signaling pathway involved in regulating innate immunity and adaptive immunity, the JAK-STAT pathway is crucial to study when considering ATAs, such as ChTs, for usage. Future experiments will investigate the usage of ChTs as antimicrobial immunomodulators on the local cecal level.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS

As *Salmonella* Enteritidis continues to endure in poultry production, the necessity for identifying the host-pathogen interaction is crucial for pathogen control. The field of immunometabolism is gaining popularity but it is relatively new to date. The work presented herein was able to provide beneficial elucidations into the immunometabolic mechanisms of current host modulators utilized in industry: AGPs and ATAs. The research in this dissertation has substantially contributed to the field of immunometabolism in avian species by 1) identifying phenotypic change of the gut during *Salmonella* Enteritidis infection with a commonly used AGP in the current market, 2) providing proof of metabolic outcome when ChTs are introduced into the diet during early growth periods, and 3) elucidating the immune response by reviewing phosphorylation events of including ChTs into the diet.

While AGPs are banned in many countries, the mechanism of how they effectively promote growth and health is lacking in the literature for avian livestock species. Therefore, it is crucial to understand the mechanism of how it affects the immunometabolic host response before even thinking about ATAs. The current literature review outlines the wealth of information about *S. enterica* pathogenesis in mammalian species but there is a lack of detailed information in the chicken. Furthermore, the field of immunometabolism is relatively new, even for mammalian species. Thus, to further contribute to the field, the objective was to define the mechanisms of how *S*. Enteritidis affects immunometabolic tissue phenotype change in broiler chickens post-hatch.

As demonstrated by the first experiment, there is a definitive phenotype change in the ceca due to the shifting microbiota from including an AGP, specifically BMD, during *S*. Enteritidis infection. The mRNA expression data, providing genotype evidence, for BMD fed *Salmonella* challenged group (T4) demonstrated persistent proinflammatory response, unlike the classic phenotypic reprogramming at day 4 from proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory response. This immunological reprogramming is supported by the microbiota analysis: the decrease in *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Clostridiaceae* and increase of *Lachnospiraceae* indicate phenotypic change. This study demonstrated a unique phenomenon that has not been reported in the literature before, thereby contributing substantially to the field of immunometabolism.

However, due to increased incidence of antibacterial resistance, the efficacy of AGPs has been questionable. Therefore, a popular ATA candidate, ChTs, as a potential AGP replacement in the current livestock production was evaluated for its role in immunometabolic phenotype changes. In the fourth chapter, the results indicated an upregulation of IL-6, which is an important marker for not just immune pathways but also for metabolic pathways, demonstrating the important role that ChTs participate in host modulation via metabolism and immunity. To date, these are the first data in the literature demonstrating initial pathway data that supports growth and health promotion with ChT.

In the final chapter of this dissertation, further analysis was performed on the previous chapter to provide immune phosphorylation data of how ChTs affect the host. Through the utilization of KEGG and GO analysis, the results shown provided meaningful proof of immunomodulatory activity of ChTs. Identifying the statistically significant immune phosphorylation events revealed the specific pathways that ChTs modulate in the host cecal tissue, namely the JAK-STAT pathway. This signaling pathway has been known to play an important role in growth factors, development, and cytokine activation (158). The results can provide useful information for utilizing ChTs as a potential ATA by its ability to target a crucial immune pathway.

The current work presented has also provided further advancement of an ATA in the current market, ChTs, by providing mechanistic data on how it modulates the host immunity. This advancement can potentially guide poultry production in providing safer, healthier meat products around the globe. However, further work needs to be performed to continue understanding the field of host-pathogen interaction. Future studies should look at the chicks' immunity from hatch to market and to test other segments of the GI tract for a wider overview of bacterial communities involved in immunometabolism. Furthermore, other immune and metabolic pathways should be analyzed for their role in host modulation. Our group is currently delving into scientific collaborations with academic and industry researchers in the poultry field. These future experiments will investigate the immunometabolic pathway involvement of other potential ATAs, food safety improvements, and mechanisms to develop downstream host-directed therapies. Overall, the field of immunometabolism needs to be further studied for any downstream application for human or livestock practical use.

92

REFERENCES

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Salmonella* homepage [Online]. 2020. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/index.html [Accessed 8 Aug 2020]
- Crhanova M, Hradecka H, Faldynova M, Matulova M, Havlickova H, Sisak F, et al. Immune response of chicken gut to natural colonization by gut microflora and to Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis infection. Infect Immun. 2011;79(7):2755–63.
- 3. Kogut MH, Arsenault RJ. Immunometabolic phenotype alterations associated with the induction of disease tolerance and persistent asymptomatic infection of Salmonella in the chicken intestine. Front Immunol. 2017;8.
- 4. Juricova H, Videnska P, Lukac M, Faldynova M, Babak V, Havlickova H, et al. Influence of Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis infection on the development of the cecum microbiota in newly hatched chicks. Appl Environ Micro. 2013;79(2):745–7.
- 5. Mon KKZ, Saelao P, Halstead MM, Chanthavixay G, Chang H-C, Garas L, et al. Salmonella enterica serovars Enteritidis infection alters the indigenous microbiota diversity in young layer chicks. Front Vet Sci. 2015;2.
- 6. Kogut MH. The effect of microbiome modulation on the intestinal health of poultry. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 2019 Apr 1;250:32–40.
- 7. Kogut MH, Arsenault RJ. Gut health: the new paradigm in food animal production. Front Vet Sci. 2016;3.
- 8. Gyles C, Prescott J, Songer J, Thoen C. Pathogenesis of bacterial infections in animals. 3rd ed. Ames (IA): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2004. p.3-12.
- 9. Barrow PA, Methner U. Salmonella in domestic animals. 2nd ed. Oxfordshire, Wallingsford, UK: CABI; 2013. p. 136-150.
- 10. Gadde UD, Oh S, Lillehoj HS, Lillehoj EP. Antibiotic growth promoters virginiamycin and bacitracin methylene disalicylate alter the chicken intestinal metabolome. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1).
- 11. Panzenhagen PHN, Aguiar WS, da Silva Frasão B, de Almeida Pereira VL, da Costa Abreu DL, dos Prazeres Rodrigues D, et al. Prevalence and fluoroquinolones resistance of Campylobacter and Salmonella isolates from poultry carcasses in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Food Control. 2016;61:243–7.

- Food Drug Administration Center for Veterinary Medicine. Veterinary Feed Directive (VFD) [Internet]. 2020. Available: http://www.fda.gov/animalveterinary/development-approval-process/veterinary-feed-directive-vfd. [Accessed 18 Oct 2020].
- 13. Niewold TA. The nonantibiotic anti-inflammatory effect of antimicrobial growth promoters, the real mode of action? a hypothesis. Poult Sci. 2007;86(4):605–9.
- 14. Manning JG, Hargis BM, Hinton A, Corrier DE, DeLoach JR, Creger CR. Effect of selected antibiotics and anticoccidials on Salmonella enteritidis cecal colonization and organ invasion in leghorn chicks. Avian Dis. 1994;38(2):256–61.
- 15. Kogut MH. Issues and consequences of using nutrition to modulate the avian immune response. J Appl Poult Res. 2017;26(4):605–12.
- 16. Swaggerty CL, Callaway TR, Kogut MH, Piva A, Grilli E. Modulation of the immune response to improve health and reduce foodborne pathogens in poultry. Microorganisms. 2019;7(3).
- 17. Molino S, Casanova NA, Rufián Henares JÁ, Fernandez Miyakawa ME. Natural tannin wood extracts as a potential food ingredient in the food industry. J Agric Food Chem. 2020;68(10):2836-2848.
- Graziani R, Tosi G, Denti R. In vitro antimicrobial activity of Silva Feed ENC® on bacterial strains of poultry origin. 12th European Poultry Conference, Cesena, Italy.. 2006;3.
- 19. Costabile A, Sanghi S, Martín-Pelaez S, Mueller-Harvey I, Gibson GR, Rastall RA, et al. Inhibition of Salmonella Typhimurium by tannins in vitro. J Food Agric Environ. 2011;9(1):119–24.
- 20. Liu Y, Che TM, Song M, Lee JJ, Almeida JAS, Bravo D, et al. Dietary plant extracts improve immune responses and growth efficiency of pigs experimentally infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus1. J Anim Sci. 2013;91(12):5668–79.
- 21. Lillehoj H, Liu Y, Calsamiglia S, Fernandez Miyakawa ME, Chi F, Cravens RL, et al. Phytochemicals as antibiotic alternatives to promote growth and enhance host health. Vet Res. 2018;49(1).
- 22. Lopetuso LR, Scaldaferri F, Bruno G, Petito V, Franceschi F, Gasbarrini A. The therapeutic management of gut barrier leaking: the emerging role for mucosal barrier protectors. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2015;19(6):1068-76.

- 23. Redondo LM, Chacana PA, Dominguez JE, Fernandez Miyakawa ME. Perspectives in the use of tannins as alternative to antimicrobial growth promoter factors in poultry. Front Microbiol. 2014;5.
- 24. Oakley BB, Kogut MH. Spatial and temporal changes in the broiler chicken cecal and fecal microbiomes and correlations of bacterial taxa with cytokine gene expression. Front Vet Sci. 2016;3.
- 25. Bratburd JR, Keller C, Vivas E, Gemperline E, Li L, Rey FE, et al. Gut microbial and metabolic responses to *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and *Candida albicans*. mBio. 2018;9(6).
- 26. Oakley BB, Lillehoj HS, Kogut MH, Kim WK, Maurer JJ, Pedroso A, et al. The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2014;360(2):100–12.
- 27. Simrén M. Manipulating the gut microbiome as a treatment strategy for functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2018;155(4):960–2.
- 28. Broom LJ. The sub-inhibitory theory for antibiotic growth promoters. Poult Sci. 2017;96(9):3104–8.
- 29. Arsenault RJ, Napper S, Kogut MH. Salmonella enterica Typhimurium infection causes metabolic changes in chicken muscle involving AMPK, fatty acid and insulin/mTOR signaling. Vet Res. 2013;44(1):35.
- 30. Blacher E, Levy M, Tatirovsky E, Elinav E. Microbiome-modulated metabolites at the interface of host immunity. J Immunol. 2017;198(2):572–80.
- 31. Huyghebaert G, Ducatelle R, Immerseel FV. An update on alternatives to antimicrobial growth promoters for broilers. Vet J. 2011;187(2):182–8.
- 32. Rychlik I, Elsheimer-Matulova M, Kyrova K. Gene expression in the chicken caecum in response to infections with non-typhoid Salmonella. Vet Res. 2014;45(1):119.
- 33. Sorbara MT, Pamer EG. Interbacterial mechanisms of colonization resistance and the strategies pathogens use to overcome them. Mucosal Immunol. 2019;12(1):1–9.
- Buck MD, O'Sullivan D, Pearce EL. T cell metabolism drives immunity. J Exp Med. 2015;212(9):1345–60.
- 35. Guilloteau P, Martin L, Eeckhaut V, Ducatelle R, Zabielski R, Van Immerseel F. From the gut to the peripheral tissues: the multiple effects of butyrate. Nutr Res Rev. 2010;23(2):366–84.
- Kogut MH, Yin X, Yuan J, Broom L. Gut health in poultry. CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources. 2017;12(031):1–7.
- 37. Díaz Carrasco JM, Redondo EA, Pin Viso ND, Redondo LM, Farber MD, Fernández Miyakawa ME. Tannins and bacitracin differentially modulate gut microbiota of broiler chickens. BioMed Res Int. 2018;2018:1–11.
- 38. Wan MLY, Ling KH, El-Nezami H, Wang MF. Influence of functional food components on gut health. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2019;59(12):1927–36.
- 39. Diaz-Sanchez S, D'Souza D, Biswas D, Hanning I. Botanical alternatives to antibiotics for use in organic poultry production. Poult Sci. 2015;94(6):1419–30.
- 40. Vidanarachchi J, Mikkelsen H, Sims I, Iji P, Choct M. Phytobiotics: Alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in monogastric animal feed. Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition in Australia, Armidale, NSW, Australia. 2005. p. 131-144.
- 41. Hoffmann S, Maculloch B, Batz M. Economic burden of major foodborne illnesses acquired in the United States. USDA. 2015; Report No. 140: 59.
- 42. Blondel CJ, Yang H-J, Castro B, Chiang S, Toro CS, Zaldívar M, et al. Contribution of the type VI secretion system encoded in SPI-19 to chicken colonization by Salmonella enterica serotypes Gallinarum and Enteritidis. PLOS ONE. 2010;5(7):e11724.
- 43. Boore AL, Hoekstra RM, Iwamoto M, Fields PI, Bishop RD, Swerdlow DL. Salmonella enterica infections in the United States and assessment of coefficients of variation: a novel approach to identify epidemiologic characteristics of individual serotypes, 1996–2011. PLOS ONE. 2015;10(12):e0145416.
- 44. Eng S-K, Pusparajah P, Mutalib N-SA, Ser H-L, Chan K-G, Lee L-H. Salmonella: a review on pathogenesis, epidemiology and antibiotic resistance. Front Life Sci. 2015;8(3):284–93.
- 45. Galán JE, Wolf-Watz H. Protein delivery into eukaryotic cells by type III secretion machines. Nature. 2006;444(7119):567–73.
- 46. Biedzka-Sarek M, Skurnik ME. How to outwit the enemy: dendritic cells face Salmonella. APMIS. 2006;114(9):589–600.
- 47. Giannella RA. Salmonella. In: Medical microbiology. 4th ed. Galveston (TX): University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston. 1996. Chapter 21.

- 48. Dieye Y, Ameiss K, Mellata M, Curtiss R. The Salmonella Pathogenicity Island (SPI) 1 contributes more than SPI2 to the colonization of the chicken by Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. BMC Microbiol. 2009;9(1).
- Hu Q, Coburn B, Deng W, Li Y, Shi X, Lan Q, et al. Salmonella enterica serovar Senftenberg human clinical isolates lacking SPI-1. J Clin Microbiol. 2008;46(4):1330–6.
- 50. Kaiser P, Wigley P, Burnside J, Barrow PA, Galyov EE, Rothwell L. Differential cytokine expression in avian cells in response to invasion by Salmonella typhimurium, Salmonella enteritidis and Salmonella gallinarum. Microbiology. 2000;146(12):3217–26.
- 51. Chiok KLR, Shah DH. Identification of common highly expressed genes of Salmonella Enteritidis by in silico prediction of gene expression and in vitro transcriptomic analysis. Poult Sci. 2019;98(7):2948–63.
- 52. Ayres JS. Cooperative microbial tolerance behaviors in host-microbiota mutualism. Cell. 2016;165(6):1323–31.
- 53. Ayres JS, Schneider DS. Tolerance of infections. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30(1):271–94.
- 54. Ayres JS. Inflammasome-microbiota interplay in host physiologies. Cell Host Microbe. 2013;14(5):491–7.
- 55. Lazzaro BP, Rolff J. Danger, microbes, and homeostasis. Science. 2011;332(6025):43–4.
- 56. Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Jin C, Hao L, Mehal WZ, Strowig T, et al. Inflammasome-mediated dysbiosis regulates progression of NAFLD and obesity. Nature. 2012;482(7384):179–85.
- 57. Withanage GSK, Wigley P, Kaiser P, Mastroeni P, Brooks H, Powers C, et al. Cytokine and chemokine responses associated with clearance of a primary Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium infection in the chicken and in protective immunity to rechallenge. Infect Immun. 2005;73(8):5173–82.
- 58. Kogut M, Swaggerty C, Byrd J, Selvaraj R, Arsenault R. Chicken-specific kinome array reveals that Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis modulates host immune signaling pathways in the cecum to establish a persistence infection. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(8):1207.
- 59. Campbell EL, Colgan SP. Neutrophils and inflammatory metabolism in antimicrobial functions of the mucosa. J Leukoc Biol. 2015;98(4):517–22.

- 60. Johanns TM, Ertelt JM, Rowe JH, Way SS. Regulatory T cell suppressive potency dictates the balance between bacterial proliferation and clearance during persistent Salmonella infection. PLOS Pathog. 2010;6(8):e1001043.
- 61. Kogut MH, Genovese KJ, He H, Arsenault RJ. AMPK and mTOR: sensors and regulators of immunometabolic changes during *Salmonella* infection in the chicken. Poult Sci. 2016;95(2):345–53.
- 62. Schat K, Kaspers B, Kaiser P. Avian Immunology. 2nd ed. Oxford, UK: Elsevier; 2014. p. 456.
- 63. Kaiser P. Advances in avian immunology—prospects for disease control: a review. Avian Pathology. 2010;39(5):309–24.
- 64. Neish AS, Denning TL. Advances in understanding the interaction between the gut microbiota and adaptive mucosal immune responses. F1000 Biol Rep. 2010;2:27.
- 65. Rubinelli PM, Kim SA, Park SH, Roto SM, Ricke SC. Sodium bisulfate and a sodium bisulfate/tannin mixture decreases pH when added to an *in vitro* incubated poultry cecal or fecal contents while reducing *Salmonella* Typhimurium marker strain survival and altering the microbiome. J Environ Sci Health, Part B. 2017;52(8):607–15.
- 66. Videnska P, Sisak F, Havlickova H, Faldynova M, Rychlik I. Influence of Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis infection on the composition of chicken cecal microbiota. BMC Vet Res. 2013;9(1):140.
- 67. Mon KKZ, Zhu Y, Chanthavixay G, Kern C, Zhou H. Integrative analysis of gut microbiome and metabolites revealed novel mechanisms of intestinal Salmonella carriage in chicken. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):4809.
- 68. Manning G. The Protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science. 2002;298(5600):1912–34.
- 69. Arsenault R, Griebel P, Napper S. Peptide arrays for kinome analysis: new opportunities and remaining challenges. Proteomics. 2011;11(24):4595–609.
- 70. Parikh K, Peppelenbosch MP. Kinome profiling of clinical cancer specimens. Cancer Res. 2010;70(7):2575–8.
- 71. Diks SH, Kok K, O'Toole T, Hommes DW, van Dijken P, Joore J, et al. Kinome profiling for studying lipopolysaccharide signal transduction in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(47):49206–13.

- Jalal S, Arsenault R, Potter AA, Babiuk LA, Griebel PJ, Napper S. Genome to kinome: species-specific peptide arrays for kinome analysis. Sci Signal. 2009;2(54):11.
- 73. Jalal S, Kindrachuk J, Napper S. Phosphoproteome and kinome analysis: unique perspectives on the same problem. Curr Anal Chem. 2007;3(1):1–15.
- 74. Arsenault RJ, Kogut MH. Immunometabolism and the kinome peptide array: a new perspective and tool for the study of gut health. Front Vet Sci. 2015;2.
- 75. Arsenault RJ, Kogut MH. Chicken-specific peptide arrays for kinome analysis: Flight for the flightless. Curr Topics Biotechnol. 2013;7:79–89.
- 76. Arsenault RJ, Trost B, Kogut MH. A comparison of the chicken and turkey proteomes and phosphoproteomes in the development of poultry-specific immunometabolism kinome peptide arrays. Front Vet Sci. 2014;1.
- 77. Finlay D, Cantrell DA. Metabolism, migration and memory in cytotoxic T cells. Nature Rev Immunol. 2011;11(2):109–17.
- 78. Bortoluzzi C, Rothrock MJ, Vieira BS, Mallo JJ, Puyalto M, Hofacre C, et al. Supplementation of protected sodium butyrate alone or in combination with essential oils modulated the cecal microbiota of broiler chickens challenged with coccidia and Clostridium perfringens. Front Sustain Food Syst. 2018;2.
- Cheng HS, Ton SH, Abdul Kadir K. Ellagitannin geraniin: a review of the natural sources, biosynthesis, pharmacokinetics and biological effects. Phytochem Rev. 2017;16(1):159–93.
- 80. Ren H, Vahjen W, Dadi T, Saliu E-M, Boroojeni FG, Zentek J. Synergistic effects of probiotics and phytobiotics on the intestinal microbiota in young broiler chicken. Microorganisms. 2019;7(12):684.
- 81. Gheisar MM, Kim IH. Phytobiotics in poultry and swine nutrition a review. Ital J Anim Sci. 2018;17(1):92–9.
- Michiels J, Missotten J, Van Hoorick A, Ovyn A, Fremaut D, De Smet S, et al. Effects of dose and formulation of carvacrol and thymol on bacteria and some functional traits of the gut in piglets after weaning. Arch Anim Nutr. 2010;64(2):136–54.
- 83. Liu Y, Song M, Che TM, Lee JJ, Bravo D, Maddox CW, et al. Dietary plant extracts modulate gene expression profiles in ileal mucosa of weaned pigs after an Escherichia coli infection1. J Anim Sci. 2014;92(5):2050–62.

- 84. Nagaraja TG, Newbold CJ, van Nevel CJ, Demeyer DI. Manipulation of ruminal fermentation. In: The rumen microbial ecosystem. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 1997. p. 523–632.
- 85. Allen HK, Stanton TB. Altered egos: antibiotic effects on food animal microbiomes. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2014;68(1):297–315.
- Brus M, Gradišnik L, Trapečar M, Škorjanc D, Frangež R. Beneficial effects of water-soluble chestnut (Castanea sativa Mill.) tannin extract on chicken small intestinal epithelial cell culture. Poult Sci. 2018;97(4):1271–82.
- 87. Schiavone A, Guo K, Tassone S, Gasco L, Hernandez E, Denti R, et al. Effects of a natural extract of chestnut wood on digestibility, performance traits, and nitrogen balance of broiler chicks. Poult Sci. 2008;87(3):521–7.
- 88. Serrano J, Puupponen-Pimiä R, Dauer A, Aura A-M, Saura-Calixto F. Tannins: current knowledge of food sources, intake, bioavailability and biological effects. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2009;53(S2):S310–29.
- 89. Cejas E, Pinto S, Prosdocimo F, Batalle M, Barrios H, Tellez G, et al. Evaluation of quebracho red wood (Schinopsis lorentzii) polyphenolic vegetable extract for the reduction of coccidiosis in broiler chicks. Int J Poult Sci. 2011;10(5):344–9.
- Starčević K, Krstulović L, Brozić D, Maurić M, Stojević Z, Mikulec Ž, et al. Production performance, meat composition and oxidative susceptibility in broiler chicken fed with different phenolic compounds. J Sci Food Agric. 2015;95(6):1172–8.
- 91. Ramah A, Yasuda M, Ohashi Y, Urakawa M, Kida T, Yanagita T, et al. Different doses of tannin reflect a double-edged impact on broiler chicken immunity. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2020;220:109991.
- 92. Mueller-Harvey I. Unravelling the conundrum of tannins in animal nutrition and health. J Sci Food Agric. 2006;86(13):2010–37.
- Redondo LM, Dominguez JE, Rabinovitz BC, Redondo EA, Fernández Miyakawa ME. Hydrolyzable and condensed tannins resistance in Clostridium perfringens. Anaerobe. 2015;34:139–45.
- Anderson RC, Vodovnik M, Min BR, Pinchak WE, Krueger NA, Harvey RB, et al. Bactericidal effect of hydrolysable and condensed tannin extracts on Campylobacter jejuni in vitro. Folia Microbiol. 2012;57(4):253–8.

- 95. Elizondo AM, Mercado EC, Rabinovitz BC, Fernandez-Miyakawa ME. Effect of tannins on the in vitro growth of Clostridium perfringens. Vet Microbiol. 2010;145(3):308–14.
- Uchiumi F, Maruta H, Inoue J, Yamamoto T, Tanuma S. Inhibitory effect of tannic acid on Human Immunodeficiency virus promoter activity induced by 12-O-tetra decanoylphorbol-13-acetate in jurkat T-cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1996;220(2):411–7.
- Zhang Y, Zhang L, Zuo Q, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Xu Q, et al. JAK-STAT signaling regulation of chicken embryonic stem cell differentiation into male germ cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2017;53(8):728–43.
- 98. Kiss AK, Bazylko A, Filipek A, Granica S, Jaszewska E, Kiarszys U, et al. Oenothein B's contribution to the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activity of Epilobium sp. Phytomedicine. 2011;18(7):557–60.
- Ramstead AG, Schepetkin IA, Quinn MT, Jutila MA. Oenothein B, a cyclic dimeric ellagitannin isolated from Epilobium angustifolium, enhances IFNγ production by lymphocytes. PLOS ONE. 2012;7(11):e50546.
- 100. Ramstead AG, Schepetkin IA, Todd K, Loeffelholz J, Berardinelli JG, Quinn MT, et al. Aging influences the response of T cells to stimulation by the ellagitannin, oenothein B. Int Immunopharmacol. 2015;26(2):367–77.
- 101. Gomez-Cadena A, Urueña C, Prieto K, Martinez-Usatorre A, Donda A, Barreto A, et al. Immune-system-dependent anti-tumor activity of a plant-derived polyphenol rich fraction in a melanoma mouse model. Cell Death Dis. 2016;7(6):e2243–e2243.
- 102. Paolini V, Frayssines A, France De La Farge, Dorchies P, Hoste H. Effects of condensed tannins on established populations and on incoming larvae of Trichostrongylus colubriformis and Teladorsagia circumcincta in goats. Vet Res. 2003;34(3):331–9.
- 103. Perin G, Baldissera MD, Fernandes M, Barreta M, Casagrande RA, Griss LG, et al. Effects of tannin-containing diets on performance, gut disease control and health in broiler chicks. Anim Prod Sci. 2019;59(10):1847.
- 104. Reggi S, Giromini C, Dell'Anno M, Baldi A, Rebucci R, Rossi L. In vitro digestion of chestnut and quebracho tannin extracts: antimicrobial effect, antioxidant capacity and cytomodulatory activity in swine intestinal IPEC-J2 cells. Animals. 2020;10(2):195.

- 105. Fukuchi K, Sakagami H, Okuda T, Hatano T, Tanuma S, Kitajima K, et al. Inhibition of herpes simplex virus infection by tannins and related compounds. Antivir Res. 1989;11(5):285–97.
- 106. Azcarate-Peril MA, Butz N, Cadenas MB, Koci M, Ballou A, Mendoza M, et al. An attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium strain and galactooligosaccharides accelerate clearance of *Salmonella* infections in poultry through modifications to the gut microbiome. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2017;84(5):e02526.
- 107. Kozich JJ, Westcott SL, Baxter NT, Highlander SK, Schloss PD. Development of a dual-index sequencing strategy and curation pipeline for analyzing amplicon sequence data on the MiSeq Illumina sequencing platform. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79(17):5112–20.
- 108. Eldaghayes I, Rothwell L, Williams A, Withers D, Balu S, Davison F, et al. Infectious bursal disease virus: strains that differ in virulence differentially modulate the innate immune response to infection in the chicken bursa. Viral Immunol. 2006;19(1):83–91.
- 109. Kogut MH, Rothwell L, Kaiser P. Differential regulation of cytokine gene expression by avian heterophils during receptor-mediated phagocytosis of opsonized and nonopsonized *Salmonella enteritidis*. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2003;23(6):319–27.
- 110. Moody A, Sellers S, Bumstead N. Measuring infectious bursal disease virus RNA in blood by multiplex real-time quantitative RT-PCR. J Virol Methods. 2000;85(1):55–64.
- 111. Shang Y, Kumar S, Oakley B, Kim WK. Chicken gut microbiota: importance and detection technology. Front Vet Sci. 2018;5.
- 112. Mwangi WN, Beal RK, Powers C, Wu X, Humphrey T, Watson M, et al. Regional and global changes in TCR $\alpha\beta$ T cell repertoires in the gut are dependent upon the complexity of the enteric microflora. Dev Comp Immunol. 2010;34(4):406–17.
- 113. Costa MC, Bessegatto JA, Alfieri AA, Weese JS, Filho JAB, Oba A. Different antibiotic growth promoters induce specific changes in the cecal microbiota membership of broiler chicken. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(2):e0171642.
- 114. Gong J, Yu H, Liu T, Gill JJ, Chambers JR, Wheatcroft R, et al. Effects of zinc bacitracin, bird age and access to range on bacterial microbiota in the ileum and caeca of broiler chickens. J Appl Microbiol. 2008;104(5):1372–82.
- 115. Kumar S, Chen C, Indugu N, Werlang GO, Singh M, Kim WK, et al. Effect of antibiotic withdrawal in feed on chicken gut microbial dynamics, immunity, growth

performance and prevalence of foodborne pathogens. PLOS One. 2018;13(2):e0192450.

- 116. Ballou AL, Ali RA, Mendoza MA, Ellis JC, Hassan HM, Croom WJ, et al. Development of the chick microbiome: how early exposure influences future microbial diversity. Front Vet Sci. 2016;3.
- 117. Stanley D, Hughes RJ, Geier MS, Moore RJ. Bacteria within the gastrointestinal tract microbiota correlated with improved growth and feed conversion: challenges presented for the identification of performance enhancing probiotic bacteria. Front Microbiol. 2016;7.
- 118. Lathrop SK, Bloom SM, Rao SM, Nutsch K, Lio C-W, Santacruz N, et al. Peripheral education of the immune system by colonic commensal microbiota. Nature. 2011;478(7368):250–4.
- 119. Sorini C, Cardoso RF, Gagliani N, Villablanca EJ. Commensal bacteria-specific CD4+ T cell responses in health and disease. Front Immunol. 2018;9.
- 120. Shanmugasundaram R, Kogut MH, Arsenault RJ, Swaggerty CL, Cole K, Reddish JM, et al. Effect of *Salmonella* infection on cecal tonsil regulatory T cell properties in chickens. Poult Sci. 2015;94(8):1828–35.
- 121. Wakita Y, Shimomura Y, Kitada Y, Yamamoto H, Ohashi Y, Matsumoto M. Taxonomic classification for microbiome analysis, which correlates well with the metabolite milieu of the gut. BMC Microbiol. 2018;18.
- 122. Vacca M, Celano G, Calabrese FM, Portincasa P, Gobbetti M, De Angelis M. The controversial role of human gut Lachnospiraceae. Microorganisms. 2020;8(4):573.
- 123. Chen L, Wilson J, Koenigsknecht M, Chou W. The intracellular innate immune sensor NLRP12 attenuates colon inflammation by maintaining colonic microbial diversity and promoting protective commensal bacterial growth. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(5):541–51.
- 124. Danzeisen JL, Kim HB, Isaacson RE, Tu ZJ, Johnson TJ. Modulations of the chicken cecal microbiome and metagenome in response to anticoccidial and growth promoter treatment. PLOS ONE. 2011;6(11):e27949.
- 125. Lin J, Hunkapiller AA, Layton AC, Chang Y-J, Robbins KR. Response of intestinal microbiota to antibiotic growth promoters in chickens. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2013;10(4):331–7.

- 126. Van Immerseel F, Boyen F, Gantois I, Timbermont L, Bohez L, Pasmans F, et al. Supplementation of coated butyric acid in the feed reduces colonization and shedding of Salmonella in poultry. Poult Sci. 2005;84(12):1851–6.
- 127. Huang Q, Liu X, Zhao G, Hu T, Wang Y. Potential and challenges of tannins as an alternative to in-feed antibiotics for farm animal production. Anim Nutr. 2018;4(2):137–50.
- 128. Min BR, Barry TN, Attwood GT, McNabb WC. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 2003;106(1–4):3–19.
- 129. Gai F, Gasco L, Schiavone A, Zoccarato I. Nutritional effects of chestnut tannins in poultry and rabbit. In: Tannins: types, foods containing, and nutrition. Nova Science Publishers, Inc; 2010. p. 11.
- 130. Suresh G, Das RK, Kaur Brar S, Rouissi T, Avalos Ramirez A, Chorfi Y, et al. Alternatives to antibiotics in poultry feed: molecular perspectives. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2018;44(3):318–35.
- 131. Li Y, Arsenault RJ, Trost B, Slind J, Griebel PJ, Napper S, et al. A systematic approach for analysis of peptide array kinome data. Sci Signal. 2012;5(220):12.
- 132. Trost B, Kindrachuk J, Määttänen P, Napper S, Kusalik A. PIIKA 2: an expanded, web-based platform for analysis of kinome microarray data. PLOS ONE. 2013;8(11):e80837.
- 133. Szklarczyk D, Morris JH, Cook H, Kuhn M, Wyder S, Simonovic M, et al. The STRING database in 2017: quality-controlled protein–protein association networks, made broadly accessible. Nucleic Acids Res. 2017;45(D1):D362–8.
- 134. Swaggerty CL, Kogut MH, He H, Genovese KJ, Johnson C, Arsenault RJ. Differential levels of cecal colonization by Salmonella Enteritidis in chickens triggers distinct immune kinome profiles. Front Vet Sci. 2017;4.
- 135. Kanehisa M, Sato Y, Kawashima M, Furumichi M, Tanabe M. KEGG as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016;44:457–62.
- 136. Ferro PJ, Swaggerty CL, He H, Rothwell L, Kaiser P, Kogut MH. Recombinant chicken IL-6 does not activate heterophils isolated from day-old chickens in vitro. Dev Comp Immunol. 2005;29(4):375–83.

- 137. McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, et al. TGF- β and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain TH-17 cell–mediated pathology. Nature Immunol. 2007;8(12):1390–7.
- 138. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2014;6(10):a016295–a016295.
- 139. Flint TR, Janowitz T, Connell CM, Roberts EW, Denton AE, Coll AP, et al. Tumor-induced IL-6 reprograms host metabolism to suppress anti-tumor immunity. Cell Metab. 2016;24(5):672–84.
- 140. Pavlov VA, Tracey KJ. The vagus nerve and the inflammatory reflex—linking immunity and metabolism. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2012;8(12):743–54.
- 141. Ghanemi A, St-Amand J. Interleukin-6 as a "metabolic hormone." Cytokine. 2018;112:132–6.
- 142. Park I, Oh S, Lillehoj EP, Lillehoj HS. Dietary supplementation with magnolia bark extract alters chicken intestinal metabolite levels. Front Vet Sci. 2020;7.
- 143. Pokusaeva K, Fitzgerald GF, van Sinderen D. Carbohydrate metabolism in Bifidobacteria. Genes Nutr. 2011;6(3):285–306.
- 144. Donohoe DR, Garge N, Zhang X, Sun W, O'Connell TM, Bunger MK, et al. The microbiome and butyrate regulate energy metabolism and autophagy in the mammalian colon. Cell Metab. 2011;13(5):517–26.
- 145. Vital M, Howe AC, Tiedje JM. Revealing the bacterial butyrate synthesis pathways by analyzing (meta)genomic data. mBio. 2014;5(2).
- 146. Smith AH, Mackie RI. Effect of condensed tannins on bacterial diversity and metabolic activity in the rat gastrointestinal tract. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004;70(2):1104–15.
- 147. Molino S, Fernández-Miyakawa M, Giovando S, Rufián-Henares JÁ. Study of antioxidant capacity and metabolization of quebracho and chestnut tannins through in vitro gastrointestinal digestion-fermentation. J Funct Foods. 2018;49:188–95.
- 148. Van Parys A, Boyen F, Dewulf J, Haesebrouck F, Pasmans F. The use of tannins to control Salmonella Typhimurium infections in pigs: tannins to control Salmonella Typhimurium infections in pigs. Zoonoses Public Health. 2010;57(6):423–8.
- 149. Swaggerty CL, Kogut MH, Ferro PJ, Rothwell L, Pevzner IY, Kaiser P. Differential cytokine mRNA expression in heterophils isolated from Salmonella-resistant and -susceptible chickens. Immunology. 2004;113(1):139–48.

- 150. Diaz Carrasco JM, Redondo LM, Redondo EA, Dominguez JE, Chacana AP, Fernandez Miyakawa ME. Use of plant extracts as an effective manner to control *Clostridium perfringens* induced necrotic enteritis in poultry. BioMed Res Int. 2016;2016:1–15.
- 151. Liu HW, Li K, Zhao JS, Deng W. Effects of chestnut tannins on intestinal morphology, barrier function, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, microflora and antioxidant capacity in heat-stressed broilers. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr. 201;102(3):717–26.
- 152. Song P, Zhang R, Wang X, He P, Tan L, Ma X. Dietary grape-seed procyanidins decreased postweaning diarrhea by modulating intestinal permeability and suppressing oxidative stress in rats. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(11):6227–32.
- 153. Williams AR, Andersen-Civil AIS, Zhu L, Blanchard A. Dietary phytonutrients and animal health: regulation of immune function during gastrointestinal infections. J Anim Sci. 2020;98(4).
- 154. Arsenault RJ, Lee JT, Latham R, Carter B, Kogut MH. Changes in immune and metabolic gut response in broilers fed β-mannanase in β-mannan-containing diets. Poult Sci. 2017;96(12):4307–16.
- 155. Lee A, Dal Pont GC, Farnell MB, Jarvis S, Battaglia M, Arsenault RJ, et al. Supplementing chestnut tannins in the broiler diet mediates a metabolic phenotype of the ceca. Poult Sci. 2020. [Epub ahead of print]
- 156. Broom LJ, Kogut MH. Deciphering desirable immune responses from disease models with resistant and susceptible chickens. Poult Sci. 2019;98(4):1634–42.
- 157. Bartunek P, Koritschoner NP, Brett D, Zenke M. Molecular cloning, expression and evolutionary analysis of the avian tyrosine kinase JAK1. Gene. 1999;230(2):129-136.
- 158. Truong AD, Rengaraj D, Hong Y, Hoang CT, Hong YH, Lillehoj HS. Analysis of JAK-STAT signaling pathway genes and their microRNAs in the intestinal mucosa of genetically disparate chicken lines induced with necrotic enteritis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2017;187:1–9.
- 159. Truong AD, Rengaraj D, Hong Y, Hoang CT, Hong YH, Lillehoj HS. Analysis of JAK-STAT signaling pathway genes and their microRNAs in the intestinal mucosa of genetically disparate chicken lines induced with necrotic enteritis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2017;187:1-9.
- 160. Huang Y, Wange RL. T cell receptor signaling: beyond complex complexes. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(28):28827–30.

- 161. Morris R, Kershaw NJ, Babon JJ. The molecular details of cytokine signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway. Protein Sci. 2018;27(12):1984–2009.
- 162. Rawlings JS. The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. J Cell Sci. 2004;117(8):1281-3.
- 163. Seif F, Khoshmirsafa M, Aazami H, Mohsenzadegan M, Sedighi G, Bahar M. The role of JAK-STAT signaling pathway and its regulators in the fate of T helper cells. Cell Commun Signal. 2017;15(1).